

Bundesanstalt für Arbeitsschutz und Arbeitsmedizin Federal Institute for Occupational Safety and Health

# SUBSTANCE EVALUATION CONCLUSION

# as required by REACH Article 48 and EVALUATION REPORT

for

Antimony trichloride EC No 233-047-2 CAS No 10025-91-9

**Evaluating Member State(s):** Germany

Dated: December 2019

# **Evaluating Member State Competent Authority**

#### BAuA

Federal Institute for Occupational Safety and Health Division 5 - Federal Office for Chemicals Friedrich-Henkel-Weg 1-25 D-44149 Dortmund, Germany

# Year of evaluation in CoRAP: 2018

Member State concluded the evaluation without any further need to ask more information from the registrants under Article 46(1) decision. A compliance check has been initiated by ECHA in parallel to the substance evaluation to request missing standard information.

#### Further information on registered substances here:

http://echa.europa.eu/web/guest/information-on-chemicals/registered-substances

#### DISCLAIMER

This document has been prepared by the evaluating Member State as a part of the substance evaluation process under the REACH Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006. The information and views set out in this document are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the position or opinion of the European Chemicals Agency or other Member States. The Agency does not guarantee the accuracy of the information included in the document. Neither the Agency nor the evaluating Member State nor any person acting on either of their behalves may be held liable for the use which may be made of the information contained therein. Statements made or information contained in the document are without prejudice to any further regulatory work that the Agency or Member States may initiate at a later stage.

# Foreword

Substance evaluation is an evaluation process under REACH Regulation (EC) No. 1907/2006. Under this process the Member States perform the evaluation and ECHA secretariat coordinates the work. The Community rolling action plan (CoRAP) of substances subject to evaluation, is updated and published annually on the ECHA web site<sup>1</sup>.

Substance evaluation is a concern driven process, which aims to clarify whether a substance constitutes a risk to human health or the environment. Member States evaluate assigned substances in the CoRAP with the objective to clarify the potential concern and, if necessary, to request further information from the registrant(s) concerning the substance. If the evaluating Member State concludes that no further information needs to be requested, the substance evaluation is completed. If additional information is required, this is sought by the evaluating Member State. The evaluating Member State then draws conclusions on how to use the existing and obtained information for the safe use of the substance.

This Conclusion document, as required by Article 48 of the REACH Regulation, provides the final outcome of the Substance Evaluation carried out by the evaluating Member State. The document consists of two parts i.e. A) the conclusion and B) the evaluation report. In the conclusion part A, the evaluating Member State considers how the information on the substance can be used for the purposes of regulatory risk management such as identification of substances of very high concern (SVHC), restriction and/or classification and labelling. In the evaluation report part B the document provides explanation how the evaluating Member State assessed and drew the conclusions from the information available.

With this Conclusion document the substance evaluation process is finished and the Commission, the Registrant(s) of the substance and the Competent Authorities of the other Member States are informed of the considerations of the evaluating Member State. In case the evaluating Member State proposes further regulatory risk management measures, this document shall not be considered initiating those other measures or processes. Further analyses may need to be performed which may change the proposed regulatory measures in this document. Since this document only reflects the views of the evaluating Member State, it does not preclude other Member States or the European Commission from initiating regulatory risk management measures which they deem appropriate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>http://echa.europa.eu/regulations/reach/evaluation/substance-evaluation/community-rolling-action-plan</u>

# Contents

Part A. Conclusion 7
1. CONCERN(S) SUBJECT TO EVALUATION7
2. OVERVIEW OF OTHER PROCESSES / EU LEGISLATION
3. CONCLUSION OF SUBSTANCE EVALUATION
4. FOLLOW-UP AT EU LEVEL
4.1. Need for follow-up regulatory action at EU level
4.1.1. Harmonised Classification and Labelling
4.1.2. Identification as a substance of very high concern, SVHC (first step towards authorisation)8
4.1.3. Restriction
4.1.4. Other EU-wide regulatory risk management measures8
5. CURRENTLY NO FOLLOW-UP FORESEEN AT EU LEVEL
5.1. No current need for regulatory follow-up at EU level8
5.2. Other actions
6. TENTATIVE PLAN FOR FOLLOW-UP ACTIONS
Part B. Substance evaluation9
7. EVALUATION REPORT
7.1. Overview of the substance evaluation performed9
7.2. Procedure
7.3. Identity of the substance
7.4. Physico-chemical properties11
7.5. Manufacture and uses12
7.5.1. Quantities
7.5.2. Overview of uses
7.6. Classification and Labelling13
7.6.1. Harmonised Classification (Annex VI of CLP)13
7.6.2. Self-classification
7.7. Environmental fate properties14
7.8. Environmental hazard assessment14
7.9. Human Health hazard assessment15
7.9.1. General considerations: Structural alerts and read-across15
7.9.2. Toxicokinetics
7.9.3. Acute toxicity and Corrosion/Irritation16
7.9.4. Sensitisation
7.9.5. Repeated dose toxicity
7.9.6. Mutagenicity
7.9.7. Carcinogenicity
7.9.8. Toxicity to reproduction (effects on fertility and developmental toxicity)
7.9.9. Hazard assessment of physico-chemical properties
7.9.10. Selection of the critical DNEL(s)/DMEL(s) and/or qualitative/semi-quantitative descriptors for critical health effects

Substance Evaluation Conclusion document

7.9.11. Conclusions of the human health hazard assessment and related classification and	
labelling	30
7.10. Assessment of endocrine disrupting (ED) properties	32
7.10.1. Endocrine disruption – Environment	32
7.10.2. Endocrine disruption - Human health	32
7.10.3. Conclusion on endocrine disrupting properties (combined/separate)	33
7.11. PBT and VPVB assessment	33
7.12. Exposure assessment	33
7.12.1. Human health	
7.12.2. Environment	33
7.13. Risk characterisation	34
7.14. References	34
7.15. Abbreviations	46
8. Annex 1: Incidence of selected non-neoplastic findings in the 2 year inhalation toxicity studies of ATO in rats and mice (NTP 2017)	48

# Part A. Conclusion

# **1. CONCERN(S) SUBJECT TO EVALUATION**

Antimony trichloride (ATC) was originally selected for substance evaluation in order to clarify the following concerns: suspected CMR (carcinogenicity and reproductive toxicity).

During the evaluation also additional concerns were identified: mutagenicity, repeated dose toxicity, endocrine disruptive activity (human health).

# 2. OVERVIEW OF OTHER PROCESSES / EU LEGISLATION

A compliance check has been initiated by ECHA in parallel to the substance evaluation to request missing standard information.

# **3. CONCLUSION OF SUBSTANCE EVALUATION**

The evaluation of the available information on the substance has led the evaluating Member State to the following conclusions, as summarised in the table below.

Table 1

CONCLUSION OF SUBSTANCE EVALUATION	
Conclusions	Tick box
Need for follow-up regulatory action at EU level	
Harmonised Classification and Labelling	
Identification as SVHC (authorisation)	
Restrictions	
Other EU-wide measures	
No need for regulatory follow-up action at EU level at this point	x

The evaluation of antimony trichloride (ATC) was conducted in parallel to evaluations for antimony metal (Sb metal, EC 231-146-5, CAS 7440-36-0), antimony trioxide (ATO, EC 215-175-0, CAS 1309-64-4), antimony sulphide (ATS, EC 215-713-4, CAS 1345-04-6) and 2,5,7,10,11,14-hexaoxa-1,6-distibabicyclo[4.4.4]tetradecane (ATEG, EC 249-820-2, CAS 29736-75-2). For the other four substances, draft decisions were prepared by the eMSCA according to Art. 46(1) and submitted to ECHA.

As of December 2019, the evaluation for these four cases is still ongoing. For all five Sb substances, a compliance check has been initiated in parallel by ECHA to assess whether standard information is missing.

# **4. FOLLOW-UP AT EU LEVEL**

# 4.1. Need for follow-up regulatory action at EU level

#### 4.1.1. Harmonised Classification and Labelling

Not applicable.

# **4.1.2.** Identification as a substance of very high concern, SVHC (first step towards authorisation)

Not applicable.

#### 4.1.3. Restriction

Not applicable.

#### **4.1.4. Other EU-wide regulatory risk management measures**

Not applicable.

# **5. CURRENTLY NO FOLLOW-UP FORESEEN AT EU LEVEL**

## 5.1. No current need for regulatory follow-up at EU level

The concerns for ATC for repeated dose toxicity, carcinogenicity (section 7.9.7), mutagenicity (section 7.9.5), toxicity to reproduction (section 7.9.8), and endocrine disruption (human health) are predominantly based on the structural similarity to ATO and other antimony (Sb) compounds. However, due to lack of relevant studies on ATC and insufficient data to justify a read-across it is not possible to conclude on the hazard concerns. Endocrine activity was observed for ATC as well as for structurally similar Sb compounds. However, the data available are not sufficient to draw any final conclusion.

As there is no exposure of consumers indicated, occupational exposure of workers is regarded as very low and in light of the on-going dossier evaluation on this substance, the generation of new information by animal testing for ATC also under this process is considered not proportionate at this stage. Therefore, no further data are requested in the context of this substance evaluation and no further regulatory follow-up at EU level is currently (December 2019) proposed.

The need for further regulatory follow-up at EU level may be reassessed in case new information becomes available in the future, *e.g.* from the ongoing compliance check on this substance or in case new uses of the substance significantly change the potential for exposure.

## 5.2. Other actions

Based on the results from additional studies found in open literature during the evaluation, ATC fulfills the classification criteria for acute toxicity category 4, H302, and acute toxicity category 3, H311. The Registrant(s) are advised to update their registration dossiers accordingly.

# **6. TENTATIVE PLAN FOR FOLLOW-UP ACTIONS**

Not applicable.

# Part B. Substance evaluation

# **7. EVALUATION REPORT**

# **7.1.** Overview of the substance evaluation performed

ATC was originally selected for substance evaluation in order to clarify concerns about: suspected CMR properties (carcinogenicity and reproductive toxicity).

During the evaluation also additional concerns were identified: mutagenicity, repeated dose toxicity, endocrine disruptive activity (human health).

EVALUATED ENDPOINTS	
Endpoint evaluated	Outcome/conclusion
Carcinogenicity	<b>No conclusion reached</b> There is concern that ATC may be carcinogenic, based on the structural similarity to ATO, which is currently classified as Carc. 2, H351. In a recent NTP study, ATO caused lung tumours in male and female mice and rats, adrenal medullary neoplasms in male and female rats, skin neoplasms in male mice and malignant lymphoma in female mice (NTP 2017). However, except for one old oral non- guideline study in guinea pigs, there are no RDT nor carcinogenicity studies with ATC and the available data are not sufficiently robust to conclude.
Mutagenicity	<b>No conclusion reached</b> ATC gave positive results in an <i>in vitro</i> micronucleus test (OECD 487) and caused DNA damage in several <i>in vitro</i> non- guideline studies. No valid <i>in vivo</i> genotoxicity studies are available for ATC. Thus, it is not possible to conclude on the endpoint.
Reproductive toxicity	<b>No conclusion reached</b> Several studies with different routes of exposure indicate reproductive (developmental) toxicity of Sb compounds including ATC. The substance potentially interferes with normal development of offspring in humans. However, the available data are not sufficiently robust to reach a conclusion.
Repeated dose toxicity	<b>No conclusion reached</b> There is concern that ATC may potentially cause target organ toxicity including haematotoxicity and cardiotoxicity after repeated oral or inhalation exposure based on an old oral non-guideline study with ATC in guinea pigs and from oral and inhalation studies with structurally related Sb compounds. While the available data are not sufficiently robust to conclude, they highlight

	substantial uncertainties regarding a DNEL derivation for ATC.
Acute toxicity	<b>No conclusion reached</b> Based on additional studies found in open literature during the evaluation it is concluded that ATC fulfills the classification criteria for acute toxicity category 4, H302, and acute toxicity category 3, H311. There are indications that ATC may also cause acute toxicity after inhalation, however the available data are not sufficiently robust to draw a conclusion.
Endocrine disruption – Human health	<b>No conclusion reached</b> There are indications for a potential interaction of Sb with the sex steroid as well as the thyroid hormone systems. However, no guideline studies investigating any endocrine parameters are available for ATC. Therefore, no conclusion can be drawn on the potential endocrine-disrupting effects of ATC.

No conclusion on hazard properties as listed above can be reached based on the available data. However, since no exposure of consumers could be identified, occupational exposure is regarded very low and in light of the on-going compliance check on ATC, the generation of new information by additional animal testing for ATC under this substance evaluation is currently considered not proportionate.

# 7.2. Procedure

Pursuant to Article 44(2) of the REACH Regulation, Antimony trichloride (ATC) was included on the Community rolling action plan (CoRAP) for evaluation in 2018. The substance evaluation commenced on 26 March 2018. ATC was evaluated as a member of a group consisting of antimony and four trivalent antimony compounds. The group members were Sb metal, ATO, ATS, ATC and ATEG.

The substance evaluation was conducted directly after the finalisation of the screening of eight Sb compounds in 2017 in the collaborative approach (COLLA) pilot project. The group of Sb compounds was proposed for the COLLA by the International Antimony Association (i2a), as there was already preparatory regulatory activity being carried out on some members of the substance group. The group of eight Sb compounds that were examined during COLLA was subdivided into a group containing Sb metal and four trivalent Sb compounds and a group containing three pentavalent Sb compounds which were not put forward for substance evaluation by the DE CA.

The outcome of the COLLA project was to follow a tiered approach for substance evaluation which will first include five substances, then the other three if necessary. Sb metal and two trivalent Sb compounds (ATO and ATS) were already included in the CoRAP for the evaluation in 2018 prior to the CoRAP update 2018-2020 and DE was chosen as the evaluating MS CA. Based on the COLLA project, two further trivalent Sb compounds (ATEG, ATC) were also suggested for the CoRAP for evaluation in 2018.

The initial concerns leading to regulatory scrutiny of the Sb compounds were carcinogenicity, as the structurally related ATO is classified as Carc. 2 – suspected human carcinogen, reported exposures lead to a high RCR, and reproductive toxicity, based on embryotoxic effects in a developmental toxicity study with the structurally related antimony metal. Consequently, ATC was included alongside other trivalent REACH-

registered Sb compounds and Sb metal for parallel evaluation to clarify the common concern.

The substance evaluation was conducted by assessing the registration dossiers<sup>2</sup>, the CSRs and further scientific literature sources.

In June 2018, the eMSCA invited the registrant to clarify some questions and uncertainties in writing. The information provided by the registrant was assessed and taken into account while evaluating the substance. A meeting with the registrants also took place in June 2018.

Based on the available data, the evaluating MSCA concluded that there are remaining concerns for endocrine disruption, mutagenicity, carcinogenicity, toxicity to reproduction, and repeated dose toxicity. The available data are not sufficient to draw final conclusions on these hazard properties. However, since no exposure of consumers and very low exposure of workers has been identified based on the evaluation of the available information leading to a potential risk, no further data was requested in the context of this substance evaluation.

# 7.3. Identity of the substance

Table 3

# SUBSTANCE IDENTITY of ANTIMONY TRICHLORIDE

Public name:	Antimony trichloride
EC number:	233-047-2
CAS number:	10025-91-9
Index number in Annex VI of the CLP Regulation:	051-001-00-8
Molecular formula:	SbCl <sub>3</sub>
Molecular weight range:	228.11 g mol <sup>-1</sup>
Synonyms:	Trichlorostibine Antimony chloride Antimony(III) chloride

Type of substance X Mono-constituent 

Multi-constituent 
UVCB

# **7.4. Physico-chemical properties**

OVERVIEW OF PHYSICOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES of ANTIMONY Trichloride				
Property	Value			
Physical state at 20°C and 101.3 kPa	Crystalline, white to yellow appearance, pungent odour			
Melting point	72 – 78 °C (differential scanning calorimetry and capillary tube in a metal block according to EU A.1 and OECD Test Guideline 102)			

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 2}$  The latest dossier update considered for this conclusion document is from 24  $^{\rm th}$  May 2018

Property	Value				
Boiling point	215 °C at 1013.25 hPa (differential scanning calorimetry according to EU A.2 and OECD Test Guideline 103)				
Relative density	$D^{23}_4$ = 3.15 (air comparison pycnometer according to EU A.3 and OECD Test Guideline 109)				
Vapour pressure	Handbook data: 1 mm Hg at 49.2 °C 10 mm Hg at 85.2 °C 40 mm Hg at 117.8 °C				
Water solubility	Data waiver: According to Annex VII of the REACH Regulation, the water solubility is not required because the substance hydrolyses in water.				
Partition coefficient n-octanol/water (Log Kow)	Data waiver: According to Annex VII of the REACH Regulation, the partition coefficient is not required because the substance is inorganic.				
Flammability	-				
Explosive properties	-				
Oxidising properties	-				
Granulometry	Particle size distribution determined by laser diffraction according to CIPAC MT 187 and ISO 13320-1: D10 = $(440.3 \pm 19.3) \mu m$ D50 = $(897.2 \pm 22.6) \mu m$ D90 = $(1491.2 \pm 35.9) \mu m$ Dustiness and MMAD determined using a				
	Heubach dust meter according to DIN 55992- 1:2006: 0.40 mg g <sup>-1</sup> MMAD1 = (11.24 $\pm$ 4.01) µm (p1 = 43.2 %) MMAD2 = (11.51 $\pm$ 1.61) µm (p2 = 56.8 %)				
Stability in organic solvents and identity of relevant degradation products	Data waiver: According to Annex IX of the REACH Regulation, the endpoint is not required because the substance is inorganic.				

# OVERVIEW OF PHYSICOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES of ANTIMONY Trichloride

# 7.5. Manufacture and uses

# 7.5.1. Quantities

AGGREGATED TONNAGE (PER YEAR)							
🗆 1 – 10 t	🖂 10 – 100 t	🗆 100 – 1000 t	🗆 1000- 10,000 t	□ 10,000-50,000 t			
□ 50,000 - 100,000 t	□ 100,000 - 500,000 t	□ 500,000 - 1000,000 t	□ > 1000,000 t	Confidential			

## 7.5.2. Overview of uses

#### Consumer

According to information from ECHA's dissemination site, the brief profile of the substance and the CSR of the lead registrant no consumer-related uses nor article service life are known for ATC.

Table 6

USES	
	Use(s)
Uses as intermediate	Isolated intermediate
Formulation	-
Uses at industrial sites	Manufacture of ATO in the pigment industry
Uses by professional workers	-
Consumer Uses	Not identified
Article service life	

# 7.6. Classification and Labelling

## 7.6.1. Harmonised Classification (Annex VI of CLP)

HARMONISED CLASSIFICATION ACCORDING TO ANNEX VI OF CLP REGULATION (REGULATION (EC) 1272/2008)							
Index No	International Chemical	EC No	CAS No	Classification		Spec. Conc.	Notes
	Identification			Hazard Class and Category Code(s)	Hazard statement code(s)	Limits,	
051-001- 00-8		233- 047-2	10025- 91-9	Skin Corr. 1B; Aquatic Chronic 2	H314 H411	STOT SE 3; H335: C ≥ 5 %	

## 7.6.2. Self-classification

• In the registration(s):

"Legal classification as laid out in regulation (EC) 1272/2008, Annex VI, Index No. 051-001-00-8. However, newly generated substance specific hazard data do not support the harmonised classification and labelling for this antimony compound as stated in Annex VI of regulation (EC) 1272/2008. Therefore, an alternative proposal for the classification and labelling of antimony trichloride (representative sample) is provided as well. ":

"conclusive but not sufficient for classification" for environmental hazards

• The following hazard classes are in addition notified among the aggregated self-classifications in the C&L Inventory: One notification states Muta.2, H341, and Carc. 1B, H350, in addition to the harmonised hazard classes.

# 7.7. Environmental fate properties

The endpoint is not targeted and no further evaluation has been performed by the eMSCA.

## 7.8. Environmental hazard assessment

The endpoint is not targeted and no further evaluation has been performed by the eMSCA.

# **7.9. Human Health hazard assessment**

#### 7.9.1. General considerations: Structural alerts and read-across

ATC is a trivalent Sb compound (Sb(III)). For the endpoints repeated-dose toxicity, carcinogenicity, reproductive toxicity, and mutagenicity, a read-across approach has been applied by the registrants to fill information requirements in the registration dossier with ATO as source substance. Additionally, for reproductive toxicity a read-across has been applied with the following source substances: Sb metal (powder), meglumine antimoniate (EC 205-108-3, CAS 133-51-7) and sodium hexahydroxoantimonate (EC 251-735-0, CAS 33908-66-6)(i2a, 2018c). Some toxicokinetics information is provided for ATC, ATO, Sb metal, meglumine antimoniate, antimony potassium tartrate (EC 234-293-3, CAS 11071-15-1), [124]sodium antimonyl xylitol, and "field-measured Antimony".

The registration dossier did not contain a read-across justification for human health.<sup>3</sup> However, during the evaluation process the registrant(s) provided provisional readacross justifications for the endpoints "lung toxicity and carcinogenicity" (i2a, 2018b), reproductive toxicity (i2a, 2018c), and genotoxicity (i2a, 2018a). The registrants provided thereafter updated versions of the respective documents in a dossier update in June 2019 (i2a, 2019a; i2a, 2019b; i2a, 2019c). The proposed read-across justification is based on a category approach comprising i.a. the Sb compounds which have been subject to substance evaluation in 2018: Sb metal, ATO, ATS, ATC, and ATEG.

Structural similarity is claimed by the registrants on the basis of the common presence of Sb atoms in all substances. Regarding toxicity the hypothesis is based on the expectation that the substances would have a comparable release of "soluble metal (oxyan)ions" (metal being antimony [Sb]) and uptake by the body. The substances are further subcategorised according to the type of Sb ions that can be released, Sb(III) and Sb(V) forms, and by their solubility (i.a. water solubility and bio-accessibility as determined in *in vitro* bio-elution assays).

The eMSCA has analysed the available information. The hypothesis that trivalent Sb compounds share common toxicological properties raises concerns for ATC. However, the identity of the alleged "soluble metal (oxyan)ions" and the quantities of the uptake by the body are unknown. Therefore, there is currently insufficient supporting experimental evidence to verify this concern and support a qualitative and quantitative hazard and risk assessment.

## 7.9.2. Toxicokinetics

Djuric et al. (1962) studied the uptake and distribution of antimony-124 chloride (Sb<sup>124</sup>Cl<sub>3</sub>) after inhalation exposure in rats, rabbits, and dogs. The animals were sedated for the treatment (with pentobarbital, rats additionally with chloropromazine).

20 albino rats, female, (strain not specified) were exposed once by inhalation for a 30 minute period (nose-only) and sacrificed serially thereafter, four animals soon after removal, pairs of two on day 1, 2, 4, 8 and 15 days, one on day 22 and four on day 140. Whole body counting was performed daily on the two rats sacrificed on day 15 and on two rats sacrificed on day 140. Five animals were placed into metabolism cages for urine and faeces collection; two were sacrificed on day 8, one was sacrificed on day 22 and two were sacrificed on day 140. One rat was discarded from the experiment because of a handling error.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The latest dossier update considered for this conclusion document is from 24<sup>th</sup> May 2018

In a 2<sup>nd</sup> experiment 20 rats were exposed in the same way and sacrificed in pairs daily for 10 days. Whole body counts were made on four rats, two of which were sacrificed on day 7 and two on day 9. Excreta were collected on two animals each over periods of 10 days. All animals were dissected for a complete tissue distribution.

Two rabbits and one dog were injected intratracheally to compare the Sb blood localization in these two species with the rat data. The rabbits were sacrificed on days 4 and 11, and the dog on day 8.

The highest percentage of radioactivity was found in the lungs. The rate of loss from the lung was very rapid at first and did not indicate a leveling off until about the 20<sup>th</sup> day, after which the rate of loss from the lung was a constant fraction of the body burden. <sup>124</sup>Sb was identified in the following organs: lungs, thyroid, adrenals, lymph nodes, trachea, heart, spleen, kidneys, muscle, liver, head, paws and tails, GI tract and contents, blood removed bone, and other.

Whole body counting showed a relatively long biological half-life in the body ( $T_{1/2}$ =~140 days after 20 days). A large fraction of the Sb determining the half-life resided in the circulating blood or highly vascularized tissue such as spleen and heart. The extremely high concentration in the red blood cells was very pronounced in the rat but not obvious in the rabbit and dog (Djuric et al., 1962). Although this study was done before the adoption of the particular guidelines and does not allow to derive dose levels as uptake and distribution are given as percentages of radioactivity it shows that ATC is absorbed via the lungs, distributed throughout the body, and that it has a long half-life in some organs.

In an oral study 18.5 Bq/feed were applied in diet to mice from day of vaginal plug until days 3, 5, and 7 of pregnancy. Thereafter, mice were sacrificed, tissues were removed and assayed for radioactivity. Intestinal absorption was 1.7% in non-pregnant and 15% in pregnant mice. Following organ distribution was found: 0.085% in lung, 0.14% in bone and 0.1-0.2% in ovaries and uterus; 0.1-0.4% in litter (Gerber et al., 1982).

After application of single doses of 800  $\mu$ g SbCl<sub>3</sub>/kg i.v., 200, 400 and 800  $\mu$ g SbCl<sub>3</sub> i.p., to rats 45-55% of the radioactivity was excreted within four days (most on day 1) in urine and faeces (equal parts after i.v., 1:4 after i.p.) (Bailly et al., 1991).

Inaba et al. (1983) studied whole body retention and tissue distribution of <sup>125</sup>Sb as chloride form in rats after oral and i.v. application. After an initial fast excretion phase (in faeces after oral application, potentially indicating a low absorption, in urine after i.v.) the excretion rate of <sup>125</sup>Sb was extremely slow with a biological half-life of 125–200 days. In suckling rats, whole-body retentions of <sup>125</sup>Sb after oral dosing were much higher.

# 7.9.3. Acute toxicity and Corrosion/Irritation

#### <u>Oral</u>

No acute oral toxicity studies are provided in the registration dossier. According to information found in the open literature ATC has an oral  $LD_{50}$  of 50–400 mg/kg bw (Eastman Kodak Co, 1992) up to 675 (557.80-816.75) mg/kg bw in rats (Arzamastsev, 1964).

#### <u>Inhalation</u>

No acute inhalation toxicity studies could be located for ATC. Antimony pentachloride has an inhalation  $LC_{50}$  of 293 mg Sb/kg bw in rats and 252 mg Sb/kg bw in mice (exposure duration 2 hours) and is reported to cause damage to the liver, kidneys and the central nervous system in rats (Izmerov et al., 1982) - cited from (MAK, 2007).

For humans the minimal lethal concentration after 4-hour inhalation exposure to ATC was 131 mg/m<sup>3</sup> (Chemie, 1994; MAK, 2007). Taylor (1966) reported about a brief accidental

exposure of seven workers to fumes containing up to 146 mg ATC/m<sup>3</sup> air. There was no mortality in this incident but all exposed individuals had transient irritation of the upper respiratory tract, five of them also had delayed symptoms arising from the gastro-intestinal tract.

#### <u>Dermal</u>

The following study could be identified in the open literature. Death within one to two days was observed following dermal exposure to ATC in an old and poorly reported skin absorption and irritation study documented by Eastman Kodak (Eastman Kodak Co, 1992) who calculated an approximate LD<sub>50</sub> of <0.1 mL/kg bw for guinea pigs (n=2) after application of undiluted deliquescent substance. According to MAK (2007) this corresponds to ~315 mg/kg bw (MAK, 2007).

#### Conclusion

ATC fulfils the criteria for classification as acute toxic Cat. 4, H302, and acute toxic Cat. 3, H311, according to CLP. The information from animal studies with antimony pentachloride and accidental exposure of humans as described above indicates that ATC may also be acute toxic after inhalation, however the available data are not robust enough to derive a classification.

#### Corrosion/irritation

ATC has a harmonized classification as skin corrosive 1B (due to release of hydrochloric acid when hydrolysed in contact with water) and STOT SE Cat.3 H335 'May cause respiratory irritation' (SCL C>5%).

# 7.9.4. Sensitisation

No studies are available which inform about potential sensitizing properties of ATC.

The endpoint was not in the scope of this substance evaluation.

# 7.9.5. Repeated dose toxicity

## 7.9.5.1. Non-human information

## 7.9.5.1.1. Repeated dose toxicity: oral

## Repeated dose toxicity (oral)

There is no oral repeated dose toxicity study conducted with ATC included in the registration. One older, non-guideline study was identified in the open literature (Arzamastsev, 1964). Investigations in guinea pigs with application of about 0.0025, 0.025, 0.25 or 2.5 mg ATC per kg bw/d for 6 months in drinking water resulted in a NOAEL of 0.0025 mg/kg bw/d (Arzamastsev, 1964). A decrease of free SH-groups in serum was observed at 0.025 mg/kg bw/d and above. Changes in blood parameters ( $\downarrow$  haemoglobin,  $\downarrow$ erythrocytes,  $\uparrow$  reticulocytes) and an increased stimulus threshold for action potential in the EEG were seen at doses of 0.25 mg/kg bw/d and above. At 2.5 mg/kg bw/d there were additional effects on serum proteins ( $\downarrow$  total serum protein,  $\uparrow$  globulin fraction). Two month treatment with about 0, 12, 20 mg/kg bw/d resulted in reduced body weight gain, decreased haemoglobin and red blood cells, increased reticulocytes, increased globulin fraction of serum proteins, decreased free SH-groups in serum, decreased mitotic index in bone marrow (Arzamastsev, 1964).

Further studies are available with other Sb compounds. The studies by (Hext et al., 1999) and (Sunagawa, 1981) are also summarised on the ECHA dissemination site.

To assess the repeated dose toxicity of ATO, in a 90 day study (Hext et al. 1999) diets containing 0, 1000, 5000 and 20,000 ppm ATO were fed to groups of 12 Wistar rats (Alpk:APSD strain). The dose levels correspond to 84, 421 and 1686 mg/kg bw/d in males and 97, 494 and 1879 mg/kg bw/d in females. There was no substance-related effect on food intake, body weight gain or clinical signs of toxicity. A 10% increase in absolute and relative liver weight together with reductions in plasma alkaline phosphatase activity and increases in aspartate aminotransferase activity have been observed in high dose males and females. This is indicative for liver toxicity, however as there were no histological changes or other signs if intoxication the findings have been regarded as adaptive to treatment (EU, 2008). Increased incidences of pituitary cysts in both sexes at the high dose (4/12 males, 3/12 females compared to 1/12 male andfemale controls) are described as common spontaneous change in this strain of rats and as values were within the historical control range not regarded as treatment related. Three high dose males had slight (2/12) resp. moderate (1/12) plasma cell infiltration in the cervical lymph node. This change was not seen in controls or in females and regarded as incidental by the authors because of the sex specificity and its spontaneous occurrence in historical controls. Haematological findings ( $\uparrow$ red cell count,  $\downarrow$  in mean cell volume in males and females) were not statistically significant and/or too small to be regarded as relevant. The NOAEL derived from this study is 1686 mg/kg bw/d.

Indications for liver toxicity and adverse effects on red blood cell count were already observed at lower levels in another study (Sunagawa, 1981) in which diets with 0, 1% and 2% ATO were fed for 24 weeks to groups of 12-15 male Wistar rats (corresponding to about 500 and 1000 mg/kg bw/d). Serum biochemical parameters showed significantly increased glutamic-oxaloacetic transaminase (GOT) [= ASAT (aspartate aminotransferase)] values in both exposure groups. There was increasing tendency of GOT in the treated groups as compared to that of control group. The histopathological examinations of the livers showed slight disorder and cloudy swelling in hepatic cords in 3 out of 5 rats in the 1% treated group and 2 out of 5 rats in the 2% treated group.

The haematological examination showed a small but significant decrease of red blood cell count in the groups exposed to ATO (control =  $9.6 \pm 0.4 \times 10^{*6}$ /mm<sup>3</sup>; 1.0% ATO = 7.5  $\pm 0.6 \times 10^{*6}$ /mm<sup>3</sup>; 2.0% ATO =  $8.0 \pm 0.4 \times 10^{*6}$ /mm<sup>3</sup>). However, all values seem to be within the normal range for rats (Harkness and Wagner, 1989). Laboratory specific historical control information is not reported.

Some older poorly described studies, obviously not following any guideline, describe reduced food intake and body weight gain at doses of about 1000 mg ATO/kg bw/d (Gross et al., 1955) and 1070 mg ATO /kg bw/d (Carnegie Mellon Institute of Industrial Research (Smyth and Thompson, 1945).

Higher oral toxicity is reported from other Sb compounds and from application to other species.

Poon et al. (1998) tested potassium antimony tartrate in concentrations of 0.5, 5, 50, and 500 ppm in drinking water applied to Sprague-Dawley rats (25/sex/dose in the control and high dose, 15/sex/dose in the intermediate dose groups) for 13 weeks. The doses roughly correspond to 0.06-42.17 mg/kg bw/d for males and 0.06-45.69 mg/kg bw/d for females. Potassium antimony tartrate in drinking water caused body weight reduction (at the highest dose), mild biochemical and hematological changes, and adaptive histological changes in the thyroid, liver, thymus, spleen, and pituitary gland. Histological changes in the thyroid (collapsed follicles) and liver (anisokaryosis) persisted in both sexes during the 4 week recovery period, after which new changes were detected in the thymus (mild reduction of cortical volume in both sexes and increased medullary volume in females) and spleen (sinus hyperplasia, congestion and hematopoesis, arteriolar cuff atrophy and reduced cell density in the periarteriolar lymphocyte sheaths in both sexes). The most sensitive target organ was the thyroid, although the relevance

of mild findings at 0.5 ppm for the setting of drinking water limit values was subject of a controversial debate (Lynch et al., 1999; Valli et al., 2000; WHO, 2003). Sb deposition in the thyroid has also been observed after exposure to ATC as described in section 7.9.2.

#### Conclusion

The available knowledge indicates that ATC may lead to toxicity after oral exposure. The abovementioned studies emphasise uncertainties to determine a point of departure for the DNEL derivation for ATC. The only available repeated dose toxicity study with ATC resulted in a NOAEL after exposure via drinking water of 0.0025 mg/kg bw/d (Arzamastsev, 1964), which is orders of magnitude lower than the NOAEL of ATO (1686 mg/kg bw/day (Hext et al., 1999)) but close to the LOAEL of 0.06 mg/kg bw/d derived with potassium antimony tartrate (Poon et al., 1998).

#### 7.9.5.1.2. Repeated dose toxicity: inhalation

No repeated dose inhalation toxicity study is available for ATC. Several older long-term inhalation toxicity studies are available for ATO. They have been evaluated under the EU existing substances regulation (EU, 2008) and are described in detail in the risk assessment report. While many of these studies were considered inconclusive due to non-compliance with current test guidelines, lack of essential information regarding exposure conditions and statistical evaluation of the results, or both control and exposed animals showing signs of non-treatment related illness, the available studies still indicate that ATO is toxic to the respiratory tract (Groth et al., 1986; Newton et al., 1994; Unpublished experimental study 5, 2003; Watt, 1983). A NOAEC of 0.51 mg/m<sup>3</sup> is derived from the study by Newton et al. (1994) based on impaired lung clearance in rats at 4.50 mg/m<sup>3</sup> (EU, 2008). Effects at higher concentrations included chronic interstitial inflammation, granulomatous inflammation, and fibrosis.

More recently ATO underwent testing in the US National Toxicology Program. Male and female Wistar Han [Crl:WI (Han)] rats and B6C3F1/N mice were exposed to ATO (> 99.9% purity) by inhalation for 2 weeks or 2 years, resulting in a LOAEC of 3 mg/m<sup>3</sup> (NTP, 2017b).

In the 14 day rat study, groups of five male and five female core study rats were exposed by whole body inhalation to ATO aerosol at concentrations of 0, 3.75, 7.5, 15, 30, or 60 mg/m<sup>3</sup> for 6 hours plus T90 (12 minutes, theoretical value for the time to achieve 90% of the target concentration after the beginning of aerosol generation) per day, 5 days per week for 12 exposure days during a 16-day period. Additional groups of five female rats in the tissue burden study were exposed to the same concentrations for 16 days then held for 28 days without exposure. All rats survived up to the end of the study. The mean body weights of exposed groups of males and females were similar to those of the respective chamber control groups. Lung weights of 60 mg/m<sup>3</sup> males and 30 and 60 mg/m<sup>3</sup> females were significantly greater than those of the chamber controls. Incidences of chronic active inflammation in the lungs were significantly increased in 30 and 60 mg/m<sup>3</sup> males and females (NTP, 2017b).

In the 14 day mouse study, groups of five male and five female core study mice were exposed by whole body inhalation to ATO aerosol at concentrations of 0, 3.75, 7.5, 15, 30, or 60 mg/m<sup>3</sup> for 6 hours plus T90 (12 minutes) per day, 5 days per week for 13 exposure days during a 17-day period. Additional groups of five female mice in the tissue burden study were exposed to the same concentrations for 17 days then held for 28 days without exposure. All mice survived up to the end of the study. The mean body weights of exposed groups of males and females were similar to those of the respective chamber control groups. Lung weights were significantly increased in 60 mg/m<sup>3</sup> males and 15 mg/m<sup>3</sup> or greater females. In the larynx, there were significantly increased incidences of squamous metaplasia of the epiglottis in the 30 and 60 mg/m<sup>3</sup> males and females compared to those in the chamber control groups (NTP, 2017b).

In the 2 year study groups of 50 male and female rats and mice were exposed to aerosols containing 0, 3, 10, or 30 mg of ATO-particles per cubic meter of air for 6 hours per day, 5 days per week for 2 years. NTP summarises the outcome as follows:

"In female rats exposed to antimony trioxide, increased incidences of lung neoplasms were observed, as compared to the control group. Higher incidences of lung tumors were also observed in exposed male rats compared to the control group. All exposed groups of male and female mice had markedly increased incidences of lung neoplasms compared to the respective control groups. There were increased incidences of a number of nonneoplastic lesions of the respiratory tract compared to the respective control groups in male and female rats and mice (e.g. inflammation, hyperplasia and fibrosis). There were also increases in nonneoplastic lesions in the nose of male and female rats and mice, in the larynx of female rats and male and female mice, and in the trachea in male mice. Foreign body, presumed to be antimony trioxide, was identified in the lung, nose, larynx, trachea, and bronchial and mediastinal lymph nodes of male and female rats and mice exposed to antimony trioxide.

In male and female rats exposed to antimony trioxide, there were increased incidences of pheochromocytomas of the adrenal medulla and of adrenal medulla hyperplasia. In female mice, incidences of malignant lymphoma were increased in all exposed groups as compared to the control group. In male mice, incidences of fibrous histiocytoma and combined incidences of fibrous histiocytoma or fibrosarcoma were increased in males compared to controls.

There were increases in bone marrow hyperplasia in male and female rats and mice. Increased incidences of nonneoplastic lesions of the bronchial and mediastinal lymph nodes were observed in rats and mice (e.g. lymphoid hyperplasia). Lymphoid hyperplasia was also observed in the spleen of female mice, as was hematopoietic cell proliferation. Increases in cellular depletion of the thymus were observed in male and female mice.

In male and female rats, there were increased incidences of nonneoplastic lesions of the arteries, kidneys, and eyes. These included the combined incidences of arterial inflammation in the mediastinum, pancreas, mesentery, lung, and kidney in males and females, renal tubule hyaline droplet accumulation and nephropathy (females only), and acute inflammation of the eye and retinal atrophy (females only). In male and female mice, there were increased incidences of inflammation of the epicardium and forestomach (males only).

#### Conclusions

We conclude that exposure to antimony trioxide particles caused lung neoplasms in male and female rats and mice. A spectrum of other nonneoplastic lesions in the respiratory tract of male and female rats and mice was caused by antimony trioxide exposure. Adrenal medullary neoplasms in male and female rats, skin neoplasms in male mice, and malignant lymphoma in female mice were also attributed to antimony trioxide exposure. Nonneoplastic lesions of the bone marrow, adrenal medulla, arteries of multiple tissues (mediastinum, pancreas, mesentery, lung, and kidney), and the eyes of male and female rats; the thymus and heart of male and female mice; the forestomach of male mice; and the spleen of female mice were caused by antimony trioxide." (NTP, 2017b)

An overview on the incidence of the main non-neoplastic findings is presented in section 8, Annex 1.

#### Conclusion

The available knowledge leads to concerns that ATC may lead to toxicity after inhalation.

Structurally related trivalent Sb compounds, especially ATO, cause respiratory and systemic toxicity after repeated inhalation exposure.

According to the information provided on the ECHA dissemination site the particle size distribution and MMAD for the airborne fraction for ATC and ATO are in the same order of magnitude: ATO: MMAD 4.12 $\pm$ 2.64 µm – 37.01 $\pm$ 5.00 µm; ATC: MMAD 11.24 $\pm$ 4.01 µm resp. 11.51 $\pm$ 1.61 µm.

The same is true for the calculated fractional deposition in human respiratory tract (MPPD model, based on calculated MMAD): ATC: Head (ET): 76.6%, tracheobronchial (TB): 1.0%, pulmonary (PU): 1.9%; ATO: Head (ET): ~56-76%, tracheobronchial (TB): 0.39 - 2.44%, pulmonary (PU): 0.7-6.4%.

Systemic absorption of ATC after inhalation exposure is evident as described in section 7.9.2.

Thus it is likely that also ATC causes respiratory and systemic toxicity after inhalation. However the available evidence is not sufficient to support a read-across and does not allow a quantitative hazard and/or risk assessment and DNEL derivation.

#### 7.9.5.1.3. Repeated dose toxicity: dermal

No relevant information available.

#### 7.9.5.2. Human information

No human data are available for repeated dose toxicity of ATC. Several older reports describe effects on workers experiencing symptoms like rhinitis, perforation of the septa, pharyngitis, bronchitis, pneumonitis, pneumoconiosis, and symptoms of emphysema following inhalation exposure to ATO in ATS-ore mining and/or smelting plants (Cooper et al., 1968; Jones, 1994; Karajovic, 1957; Klucik et al., 1962; McCallum, 1963; McCallum, 1967; McCallum et al., 1970; Potkonjak and Pavlovich, 1983; Renes, 1953). Due to lack of detailed exposure data the studies cannot be used for quantitative risk assessment. They do however indicate that ATO, ATS, and possibly ATC have the potential to induce pulmonary inflammation, lung emphysema, and pneumoconiosis after repeated inhalation exposure.

#### 7.9.5.3. Specific target organ toxicity: Cardiotoxicity

Cardiotoxicity is a well-known serious side effect from the medical use of tri- and pentavalent Sb compounds for the treatment of visceral leishmaniasis (Kala-azar) (Honey, 1960; O'Brien, 1959). With the regimen of 20 mg/kg per day sodium antimony gluconate for 28 days, cardiac toxicity has been reported in 8% to 17% of cases with 5% to 7% of them reporting fatal toxicity (Thakur and Narayan, 2004). The cardiovascular alterations induced by Sb compounds include ECG alterations such as ST segment inversion and QT interval prolongation, and consequently torsade de point arrhythmias and sudden cardiac arrest (Kuryshev et al., 2006; Maciel et al., 2010). *In vitro* investigations in HEK/hERG cells indicate that the underlying cellular mechanism may be an increase of cardiac calcium currents (Kuryshev et al., 2006).

Brieger et al. (1954) reported about Sb poisoning in a plant of the abrasives industry in which 8 of 125 workers died assumingly due to heart disease after 8 month to 2 year exposure to ATS ( $0.58 - 5.5 \text{ mg/m}^3$ ). Only two of these employees were known to suffer

#### Substance Evaluation Conclusion document

from chronic heart disease. In the remaining workforce there was a high incidence of increased blood pressure and 37 out of 75 examined showed significant changes in the ECG, mostly of the T-waves. In addition, a large number of employees had gastrointestinal disturbances, in with ulcers diagnosed by X-ray in seven of 111, which was about four times higher than the incidence in other parts of the enterprise. No further deaths were reported after the use of ATS was discontinued.

The same authors further conducted some limited inhalation tests in rats, rabbits and dogs, which resulted in ECG changes (mainly effects on T-waves and unspecified indications of myocardial injury) as well as (histo)pathological findings (including heart dilatation, swelling of myocardial fibers and parenchymatous changes) after exposure to 3.07 resp. 5.6 mg/m<sup>3</sup> ATS for 6 weeks, 5d/wk, 7hr/d in male rats resp. rabbits thereby supporting the hypothesis that ATS may cause cardiotoxicity.

Nigra et al. (2016) conducted a systematic review of literature assessing the relationship between Sb (and some other metals) and cardiovascular diseases in adults but concluded that the current evidence is not sufficient to inform on the cardiovascular role of these metals because of the small number of studies.

There are several publications, based on the US National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 1999-2010, reporting about associations between urinary Sb levels (source of exposure not specified) and increased prevalence of hypertension (Shiue, 2014), peripheral arterial disease (Navas-Acien et al., 2005) and cardiovascular disease (Agarwal et al., 2011). Guo et al. (2016) highlight that elevated urinary Sb levels are associated with increased likelihoods of heart disease and increased risk of heart disease mortality. However not all of the observations show a clear dose-response relationship.

#### Conclusion

In conclusion there is concern that trivalent Sb compounds including ATC may cause adverse cardiovascular effects. However based on the current evidence definite conclusions and precise risk estimates are not possible beyond medical applications.

# 7.9.6. Mutagenicity

The genotoxicity and mutagenicity of ATC as well as other trivalent Sb compounds has been assessed in various bacterial *in vitro* assays, mammalian cell *in vitro* assays, *in vivo* assays, and human exposure studies. Studies with other Sb compounds than ATC are considered in the substance evaluation in order to provide an overview of Sb induced genotoxic effects, also because registrants applied read-across for genotoxicity and other endpoints in the dossiers for ATO, Sb metal, ATEG, ATS, and ATC mostly with ATO and ATC as source substances but also with elemental Sb as well as pentavalent Sb compounds such as sodium hexahydroxo-antimonate and meglumin antimoniate. The term genotoxicity is used to cover also non-permanent DNA damages. Induction of oxidative stress is discussed in this section because oxidative damage is considered a major mutation inducing factor (Smith et al., 2016).

## 7.9.6.1. Genotoxicity in vitro, bacteria

Numerous studies are available, which tested ATC (Kanematsu et al., 1980; Kubo et al., 2002; Kuroda et al., 1991) and other Sb compounds (Arlauskas et al., 1985; Asakura et al., 2009; Elliott et al., 1998; Hartman et al., 1971; Zeiger et al., 1992) in the bacterial reverse mutation assay (Ames test), most of them according to or similar to OECD TG 471. The studies by Kuroda et al. (1991) and Kubo et al. (2002) are not guideline compliant because only tester strains TA98 and TA100 were used with and without metabolic activation. The study by Kanematsu et al. (1980), which is not included in the

dossier, is regarded as not reliable because the purity of test compound was not specified and no positive or negative controls were documented. ATC and other Sb compounds, except Sb metal (Asakura et al., 2009), were considered negative in the bacterial reverse mutation assay (Ames test, OECD TG 471), SOS umu test (ATC, (Yamamoto et al., 2002), not included in the dossier), and SOS chromotest (ATC, (Lantzsch and Gebel, 1997)). Consistent positive results were obtained with the rec assay, an indicator assay for genotoxic effects, for ATC, ATO, and other trivalent as well as pentavalent Sb compounds (Kanematsu et al., 1980; Kuroda et al., 1991; Nishioka, 1975). It is generally accepted that metals can produce false-negative results in bacterial genotoxicity assays, which suggests that genotoxicity assays with mammalian cells would be more appropriate (ECHA, 2017), in particular the XPRT test as discussed below (OECD TG 476). Despite a high prevalence of false-negative results with metals in bacterial assays, the rec assay delivered positive results indicating potential genotoxic effects of Sb compounds.

7.9.6.2. Genotoxicity and oxidative stress induction *in vitro*, mammalian cells, mammalian cells

Genotoxicity of ATC and other Sb compounds has been assessed in multiple mammalian cell *in vitro* studies by use of a variety of different cell lines. Two *in vitro* mammalian cell gene mutation studies with ATO (OECD TG 490, (Elliott et al., 1998)) and antimony thioantimonate (OECD TG 476, HPRT test, (Tu and Sivak, 1984), not included in the registration dossier) delivered negative results, confirming the negative Ames assay, which indicates that ATO does not cause gene mutations. However, metal ions can lead to large DNA deletions (ECHA, 2017a) and the HPRT test does not detect mutations resulting from large deletions (OECD, 2016a). Since the XPRT test (OECD TG 476) is supposed to detect also large DNA deletions, it might be more suitable as mammalian mutagenicity assay for the assessment of Sb compounds.

No OECD TG 473 study (*in vitro* mammalian chromosomal aberration test) is available for ATC. Chromosomal aberration assays according to or similar to OECD TG 473 were applied in four studies with different cell lines (Human leukocytes, Chinese hamster lung cells, Chinese hamster ovary cells) to assess the genotoxic potential of the Sb compounds ATO (Elliott et al., 1998), Sb metal (Asakura et al., 2009), antimony sodium tartrate (Paton and Allison, 1972), and the pentavalent antimony thioantimonate (Tu and Sivak, 1984). All four studies were positive and detected a dose-dependent increase of aberrant cells. The latter does not apply to the single dose study by Paton and Allison (1972). The lowest effective concentrations (significant increase of aberrant cells) ranged from 50  $\mu$ g/mL for ATO and Sb metal to 60  $\mu$ g/mL for antimony thioantimonate. The studies by Asakura et al. (2009), Paton and Allison (1972), and Tu and Sivak (1984) are not included in the dossier.

ATC (Gebel, 1998; Huang et al., 1998; Schaumlöffel and Gebel, 1998) and the pentavalent potassium antimonate (Migliore et al., 1999) have been tested positive in the micronucleus assay (similar to OECD TG 487) in four independent studies by use of various cell lines (Human bronchial epithelial cells (BES-6), Human fibroblasts (HF), Chinese hamster ovary cells, Human peripheral lymphocytes, and V79 Chinese hamster cells) with the lowest LOEC of 5  $\mu$ M (Schaumlöffel and Gebel, 1998) and dose-dependent increases of micronucleus frequencies.

The sister chromatid exchange (SCE) assay, similar to OECD TG 479, shows positive effects in V79 Chinese hamster cells and human lymphocytes with a dose-dependent increase of SCEs for two trivalent Sb compounds, which have been assessed in the two studies, ATC and ATO (Gebel et al., 1997; Kuroda et al., 1991).

The comet assay was positive for ATC in two studies in V79 Chinese hamster cells (Gebel et al., 1998) and Human peripheral lymphocytes (Schaumlöffel and Gebel, 1998) with a LOEC from 0.23 to 11.4  $\mu$ g/mL. The former study is not included in the dossier. Increase of  $\gamma$ H2AX as marker for DNA double strand breaks was observed for ATC, confirming

results of the comet assay (Kopp et al., 2017). The latter study is not included in the registration dossier.

The impairment of DNA damage repair has been observed in three *in vitro* studies with ATC (Grosskopf et al., 2010; Koch et al., 2017; Takahashi et al., 2002) and one *in vitro* study with antimony potassium tartrate (Takahashi et al., 2002). Two of these studies (Grosskopf et al., 2010; Koch et al., 2017) demonstrated the impairment of proteins important for DNA damage repair. The study by Koch et al. (2017) is not included in the registration dossier.

The oxidative stress inducing potential of Sb compounds has been assessed *in vitro* in numerous studies for ATO (Jiang et al., 2016; Verdugo et al., 2017), Sb metal (Zhao et al., 2017), potassium antimony tartrate (Snawder et al., 1999; Tirmenstein et al., 1995; Tirmenstein et al., 1997; Wyllie and Fairlamb, 2006), sodium stibogluconate (Wyllie and Fairlamb, 2006), and potassium hexahydroxoantimonate (Verdugo et al., 2017). The *in vitro* studies with trivalent Sb compounds were positive, the ones with pentavalent Sb compounds negative. Inhibition of enzymes involved in GSH function, depletion of GSH, and disruption of mitochondrial membrane potential was reported. Also the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) was observed in several studies and could be a result of overstrained oxidative stress defence mechanisms (e.g., through glutathione depletion). None of these studies are included in the registration dossier.

In the ToxTracker assay (Hendriks et al., 2017), positive effects have been observed for oxidative stress induction and unfold protein response for ATC, ATO, Sb metal, ATS, and ATEG (Derr et al., 2017; Unpublished experimental study 3, 2017). All five compounds are negative in the DNA damage response and for activation of the p53-dependent cellular stress response. These results, including the reduced activity after metabolic activation and aforementioned studies showing induction of oxidative stress, emphasize the electrophilic character of the respective trivalent Sb compounds and hence the capacity to damage cellular structures.

## 7.9.6.3. Genotoxicity and oxidative stress induction in vivo

No reliable standard *in vivo* genotoxicity study is available for ATC. Genotoxicity of ATO and other Sb compounds has been assessed in various *in vivo* studies. As opposed to *in vitro* assays, *in vivo* tests on structural chromosomal aberrations (OECD TG 475) were negative in bone marrow in mice (Elliott et al., 1998) and rats (Kirkland et al., 2007). One positive study was regarded as not reliable (Gurnani et al., 1992a; Gurnani et al., 1992b; Gurnani et al., 1993) because the purity of test compound was not specified, no positive control was applied, and a very high mortality occurred after 20 days in the highest dose group. The latter is not plausible considering results of a 90-day oral repeated dose study (dietary exposure) where all rats survived the dosing period in good condition with a NOAEL of >1686 mg/kg bw/d (Hext et al., 1999). Another study, not included in the dossier, found positive effects after i.p. injection (single and repeated dose) of potassium antimony tartrate and Bilhardcid (C<sub>12</sub>H<sub>16</sub>N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>12</sub>Sb<sub>2</sub>) in rats (El Nahas et al., 1982).

Tests with ATO on micronuclei formation were negative after oral application in mice (Elliott et al., 1998) and rats (Kirkland et al., 2007) in bone marrow. A 12 months inhalation study with ATO delivered negative results in peripheral erythrocytes in rats but positive effects in mice (NTP, 2017b). The increase in micronuclei was small but significant with a LOAEC of 30 mg/m<sup>3</sup>. The induction of micronuclei in erythrocytes after ATO inhalation requires systemic absorption of test compound. In the EU Risk Assessment report for ATO (EU, 2008), a systemic absorption of 6.82% after inhalation is proposed, which makes systemic effects conceivable. Four more studies, which are not included in the dossier, resulted in increased micronuclei formation in leukocytes of mice after intraperitoneal injection of the pentavalent meglumine antimoniate with a LOAEC of 212.5 mg/kg bw after single application and 20 mg/kg/d after daily application for 20 days (Cantanhede et al., 2015; de Jesus et al., 2018; Lima et al., 2010; Moreira et al.,

2017). Positive effects might be a result of Sb(III) residuals (Dzamitika et al., 2006; Kato et al., 2014) or Sb(V) metabolised to Sb(III) in the body (Friedrich et al., 2012).

The comet assay in lung cells was positive in a 12 months inhalation study with ATO in mice but negative in rats (NTP, 2017b). Despite this study being regarded as not reliable (because i. no positive control, ii. no historical negative/positive control data, iii. no cytotoxicity measurements), positive effects in lung cells after inhalation are plausible given the electrophilic character of Sb-compounds as discussed below. Consistent with results of micronucleus assays, intraperitoneal injection of meglumine antimoniate resulted in increased levels of DNA damage in leukocytes in the comet assay (Cantanhede et al., 2015; de Jesus et al., 2018; Lima et al., 2010; Moreira et al., 2017).

Conflicting results were also observed in studies assessing effects on the DNA repair system, which were positive for ATC in a study conducted by the Austrian Research Centre (EPA, 1988; Unpublished experimental study 1, 1988), which is not included in the registration dossier, and negative in Elliott et al. (1998) for ATO (unscheduled DNA synthesis (UDS) test with mammalian liver cells). The former is regarded as not reliable, mainly because no information on the systemic toxicity was reported, which is critical at doses from 500 – 1500 mg/kg given that an LD<sub>50</sub> for mice of 50 – 400 mg ATC/kg has been reported before (MAK, 2007). Effects on the DNA repair system are plausible with regard to positive *in vitro* assays as discussed above.

Effects on oxidative stress were confirmed in several *in vivo* studies after i.p. or s.c. injection with ATC (Wang et al., 1998) and meglumine antimoniate (Bento et al., 2013; Cantanhede et al., 2015; de Jesus et al., 2018; Kato et al., 2014; Moreira et al., 2017). None of these studies are included in the dossier. In studies with meglumine antimoniate effects are most likely caused by Sb(III) residuals (Dzamitika et al., 2006; Kato et al., 2014).

#### 7.9.6.4. Genotoxicity in humans

No human data for genotoxicty of ATC are available. Induction of chromosomal aberrations was tested negative in one study (not included in the dossier) with one patient in peripheral blood lymphocytes before and after treatment with meglumine antimoniate via intramuscular injection of 3 g/d over 15 days (Hantson et al., 1996). In the same study treatment with meglumine antimoniate increased frequency of binucleated cells 8-9-fold. This study is considered as not reliable because only one patient has been monitored who was in poor general condition, recovering from hemorrhagic shock and transient renal failure. Additionally, the patient had a relatively high frequency of chromosome type structural aberrations in three blood cultures before treatment, probably due to repeated diagnostic exposure to ionizing radiation. Cavallo et al. (2002) found no increase in micronuclei in peripheral lymphocytes from males occupationally exposed to ATO (n=23: 17 with high inhalation exposure (group A, mean exposure concentration: 0.12  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>) and 6 with low exposure (group B, mean exposure concentration: 0.05  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>)) compared to a control group (n=23, no exposure). Also the sister chromatid exchange assay was negative in both above-mentioned studies (Cavallo et al., 2002; Hantson et al., 1996).

One study delivered positive results in an enzyme (Fpg)-modified comet assay with peripheral lymphocytes after occupational inhalation exposure, pointing towards oxidative DNA damage (Cavallo et al., 2002). Co-exposure to other genotoxic chemicals cannot be excluded and therefore a causal relationship cannot be proven. Additionally, the exposure concentrations seem very low with 120 ng/m<sup>3</sup> in the high exposure group, while ambient air concentrations are typically <20 ng/m<sup>3</sup> but can exceed 1000 ng/m<sup>3</sup> in the proximity of plants that convert Sb ores into metal or manufacture substances (ATSDR, 2017). Ambient air concentrations in the control group have not been monitored. Nevertheless, oxidative damages are plausible considering positive results in multiple *in vitro* and *in vivo* assays on genotoxicity and oxidative stress induction.

Another study (not included in the dossier) found a positive correlation between urinary Sb levels and DNA lesions (apurinic/apyrimidinic (AP) or abasic site) in ATO exposed workers (El Shanawany et al., 2017). In this study, the observed DNA lesions are not attributed to oxidative stress because DNA damage did not correlate with total oxidant capacity. AP sites are usually removed by base excision repair and hence impaired DNA repair could result in increased AP sites. Impaired base excision repair through Sb exposure has been observed before *in vitro* (Grosskopf et al., 2010). Again, a causal relationship cannot be established with certainty because co-exposure to other potentially genotoxic compounds cannot be excluded.

## 7.9.6.5. Discussion

The direct comparison of *in vitro* and *in vivo* results demonstrates that *in vitro*, ATC and other trivalent Sb-compounds (mainly ATO and antimony tartrate) are consistently tested positive with the rec assay, chromosomal aberrations assay, micronucleus assay, sister chromatid exchange assay, comet assay, assays to detect impairment of DNA repair mechanisms, and oxidative stress induction. *In vivo*, results of trivalent Sb compounds are much less consistent: negative for chromosomal aberrations and ambiguous or conflicting results for micronucleus formation, comet assay, and DNA repair. Pentavalent Sb compounds are mostly negative in *in vitro* assays (except in the rec assay, chromosomal aberration and micronucleus assay). For pentavalent Sb compounds only *in vivo* experiments with meglumin antimoniate injected intraperitoneally are available. Positive *in vivo* results with meglumin antimoniate are most likely caused by residual Sb(III).

In the ECHA Guidance on Information Requirements and Chemical Safety Assessment Chapter R.7a (ECHA, 2017) it is noted that highly electrophilic substances with positive results *in vitro* may react with proteins and water *in vivo* and hence be rendered inactive very quickly when distributed in the body and thus producing negative effects in most standard in vivo assays, in particular when systemic absorption is required to reach the target cells. However, such electrophilic compounds may be able to express their genotoxic potential at the initial site-of-contact with the body. Consequently, the use of test systems which detect effects in site-of-contact tissues might be necessary, e.g. comet assay with lung cells. A significant and dose-dependent decrease of glutathione levels (Snawder et al., 1999; Tirmenstein et al., 1995; Tirmenstein et al., 1997; Wyllie and Fairlamb, 2006), reactivity with proteins (Derr et al., 2017; Unpublished experimental study 3, 2017; Verdugo et al., 2017), significant reduction of protein thiols (Harvey, 1971; Tirmenstein et al., 1997), and induction of oxidative stress response (Derr et al., 2017; Unpublished experimental study 3, 2017) demonstrate the electrophilic properties of trivalent Sb compounds and the capacity to damage cellular structures. This could explain positive results in *in vitro* assays, predominantly negative results in *in vivo* assays which require systemic absorption, and positive results in the comet assay with lung cells after inhalation exposure in the NTP study (NTP, 2017b). Also the impairment of DNA repair processes might be a result of the electrophilic character of Sb(III).

Gene mutations (e.g., point or frame shift mutation), have not been observed in any of the provided studies except mild effects for Sb metal (Asakura et al., 2009). Chromosome mutations (structural chromosome changes) occurred consistently in several studies *in vitro* and with conflicting results *in vivo*. In light of the protein reactivity of ATO and other trivalent Sb compounds it seems plausible that trivalent Sb compounds exert genotoxic properties via non-DNA reactive mechanisms, such as inhibition of DNA synthesis, alterations in DNA repair, or overloading of anti-oxidants defence mechanisms (ECHA, 2017), all of which have been demonstrated *in vitro* and some of them *in vivo*. However, DNA reactive mechanisms could play a role in site-ofcontact tissue and also systemic DNA reactive mechanisms cannot be excluded based on the available data.

#### 7.9.6.6. Conclusion

Taking into account positive *in vitro* mutagenicity tests for ATC and other trivalent Sb compounds and the equivocal outcomes of *in vivo* genotoxicity assays as discussed above, a concern for potential genotoxic effects of ATC is evident. The available data are not sufficient to draw a final conclusion.

## 7.9.7. Carcinogenicity

#### 7.9.7.1. Non-human information

#### 7.9.7.1.1. Carcinogenicity: oral

No relevant information available.

#### 7.9.7.1.2. Carcinogenicity: inhalation

No carcinogenicity studies with ATC are available. Until recently, three 12 months inhalation studies in rats were available for carcinogenicity assessment of ATO (Groth et al., 1986; Newton et al., 1994; Watt, 1983) and Sb ore (Groth et al., 1986). Two of these studies demonstrated increased rates of lung tumours in exposed animals (Groth et al., 1986; Watt, 1983). In one study, no benign or malignant tumours were observed (Newton et al., 1994). Some occupational inhalation exposure studies of workers from Sb or tin smelters observed elevated lung cancer risks while the causality of Sb exposure could not be conclusively established due to co-exposure to other carcinogenic compounds (Jones, 1994; Jones et al., 2007; Schnorr et al., 1995). Other occupational exposure studies did not find elevated lung cancer cases with inhalation exposure to ATO and/or ATS (McCallum, 1967; Potkonjak and Pavlovich, 1983). The available data at the time led to a harmonised classification as Carc 2 (H351) for ATO.

In a more recent 2-year whole body inhalation study, the US NTP found clear evidence of carcinogenic activity of ATO in B6C3F1/N mice and some evidence of carcinogenic activity of ATO in Wistar Han rats (NTP, 2017b).

In female mice, various neoplastic findings were observed with a LOAEC of 3 mg/kg bw/d: alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma (1/50, 10/50, 19/50, 8/50), alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma (2/50, 14/50, 11/50, 11/50), alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma or carcinoma (3/50, 22/50, 27/50, 18/50), malignant lymphoma (7/50, 17/50, 20/50, 27/50), squamous cell carcinoma (skin) (0/50, 0/50, 0/50, 2/50). Also in male mice neoplastic findings were observed with a LOAEC of 3 mg/kg bw/d: alveolar/bronchiolar carcinoma (4/50, 18/50, 20/50, 27/50), fibrous histiocytoma (skin) (0/50, 1/50, 3/50, 4/50).

In female rats, various neoplastic findings were observed: alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma (3/50, 4/50, 6/50, 8/50), alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma or carcinoma (3/50, 4/50, 8/50, 8/50), benign pheochromocytoma (adrenal medulla) (1/49, 0/50, 2/49, 7/50). Also in male rats neoplastic findings were observed: alveolar/bronchiolar adenoma (0/50, 2/50, 6/50, 5/50), cystic keratinizing epithelioma or squamous cell carcinoma (0/50, 0/50, 0/50, 3/50, equivocal finding), benign pheochromocytoma (adrenal medulla) (0/49, 2/49, 6/50), benign or malignant pheochromocytoma (0/49, 2/49, 2/49, 7/50).

The results of the above summarised chronic inhalation toxicity studies with ATO and Sb ore raise concerns that ATC may lead to carcinogenicity after chronic inhalation exposure. Further, it is important to note that inhalation toxicity is not limited to effects on the lungs but includes upper respiratory tract symptoms as well as systemic effects after inhalation exposure. Systemic absorption of ATC after inhalation exposure is evident as described in section 7.9.2. Systemic genotoxic effects have been observed in a micronucleus assay in mice after inhalation exposure to ATO (section 7.9.6.3, (NTP,

Substance Evaluation Conclusion document

2017b)). Systemic neoplastic effects after inhalation exposure to ATO have been observed in the 2-year NTP study (NTP, 2017b) in mice (malignant lymphoma) and rats (benign or malignant pheochromocytoma). Additionally, potential tumour promoting properties of antimony potassium tartrate have been found in a study by Zhang et al. (2018), which has not been observed in studies with other Sb compounds but the incidence of epithelial hyperplasia in the prostate of rats was increased in the 2-year inhalation study with ATO (NTP, 2017b).

#### 7.9.7.1.3. Carcinogenicity: dermal

No relevant information available.

#### 7.9.7.1.4. Carcinogenicity: other routes

No relevant information available.

#### 7.9.7.2. Conclusion

There is concern for carcinogenicity of ATC, based on the structural similarity to ATO which is classified as Carc. Cat. 2 (H351). However, the available data are not sufficient to draw final conclusions about the qualitative and quantitative applicability of the above described findings for ATC.

# **7.9.8.** Toxicity to reproduction (effects on fertility and developmental toxicity)

#### 7.9.8.1. Effects on fertility

There are no guideline studies available to specifically address effects of ATC on fertility and sexual function.

The available data from sub-chronic and chronic repeated dose-toxicity studies on ATO (oral route: (Hext et al., 1999; Sunagawa, 1981); inhalation route: (NTP, 2017b)), antimony potassium tartrate (James et al., 1966; NTP, 1992; Omura et al., 2002; Poon et al., 1998), and antimony dextran glycoside (Casals, 1972) do not indicate that Sb affects fertility. However, there are concerns from several other studies or human data that create a need for clarification on fertility effects. A non-guideline study with rats reported increased pre-implantation loss after inhalation exposure to ATO (Grin et al., 1987). Reduced incidence of pregnancies compared to controls has been observed in a rat inhalation study with Sb metal (Belyaeva, 1967). An occupational study with female workers of an Sb plant found increased incidences of disturbed menstrual cycles and increased incidences of spontaneous abortions and premature births (Belyaeva, 1967). However, no dedicated guideline studies with potassium antimony tartrate and ATC indicate some endocrine activity of Sb compounds potentially affecting the reproductive system (Choe et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2018) as described in section 7.10.2.

#### 7.9.8.2. Developmental toxicity

#### **7.9.8.2.1.** Information from animal studies

Cumulative evidence from studies on several Sb compounds suggests some potential of Sb to interfere with normal development of offspring. However, no guideline-studies are available for ATC.

Substance Evaluation Conclusion document

One inhalation prenatal developmental toxicity study in rat with ATO according to OECD TG 414 showed only local lung toxicity in dams but no developmental toxicity was observed (Unpublished experimental study 5, 2003). The preceding dose-range finder study (Unpublished experimental study 5, 2003) revealed no systemic maternal toxicity up to the highest dose tested. However, slightly reduced foetal body weights (8% lower; not significant), and a lower crown-rump distance (4% lower; significant) in the highest dose group ( $6.07 \text{ mg/m}^3$ ) were observed. In contrast, a non-guideline inhalation study with ATO (rats, 0.027, 0.082, 0.27 mg/m<sup>3</sup>, 21 day whole body exposure around-theclock) reported increased post implantation losses and gross macroscopic changes in the two highest exposure concentrations tested (increased bleeding in foetal brain membranes and liver; increased size of the kidney cavity and the cerebral ventricles) (Grin et al., 1987). However, this study has several shortcomings: i) it is not reported how the Sb oxide aerosol was generated, ii) no details on analytical method for verification of exposure levels, purity and particle size of the test compound, iii) few or no statistical calculations are available, iv) translation from Russian, v) unclear whether the studied substance is ATO or antimony pentoxide.

No definite conclusion on developmental toxicity can be drawn from these inhalation studies.

Non-guideline studies with ATC applied in the drinking water show decreased postnatal growth and alterations in vasomotor reactivity after gestational and lactational exposure (Angrisani et al., 1988; Marmo et al., 1987; Rossi et al., 1987). However, it is unclear whether these observations are developmental effects since no comparison was made to adult animals. Also the purity of tested substance is not known, and doses are estimated (Angrisani et al., 1988; Marmo et al., 1987; Rossi et al., 1987).

Oral prenatal developmental toxicity studies according to OECD TG 414 are available for the pentavalent substance sodium hexahydroxo-antimonate (NaSb(OH)<sub>6</sub>) in rats (Unpublished experimental study 2, 2014) and for Sb metal in rabbits (Unpublished experimental study 4, 2017). In rats, NaSb(OH)<sub>6</sub> induced delayed ossifications in the absence of maternal toxicity (Unpublished experimental study 2, 2014). Exposure of rabbits to Sb metal resulted in developmental toxicity including decreased numbers of viable new-born (due to increased post-implantation losses and abortions), reduced foetal body weights and delayed ossifications (Unpublished experimental study 4, 2017). However, developmental toxicity was observed in the presence of maternal toxicity (reduced body weight gain and body weight, macroscopic changes in the liver and gastrointestinal tract, and mortality) (Unpublished experimental study 4, 2017). Maternal effects can impede the detection of reproductive hazards. The maternal toxicity in this study indicates that rabbits are very susceptible to adverse effects on the gastrointestinal tract. Therefore, an oral prenatal developmental toxicity study using rats is considered more appropriate to detect potential developmental effects of Sb substances.

Studies with i.p injected meglumine antimoniate reported decreased numbers of viable new-borns (due to increased post-implantation losses), lower birth weight, increased soft tissue and skeletal anomalies/variations in the absence of maternal toxicity (Coelho et al., 2014a; Miranda et al., 2006; Paumgartten and Chahoud, 2001). Furthermore, i.m. injection of sodium stibogluconate, meglumine antimoniate, as well as ATC during GD 6-15 resulted in increased resorption rates, decreased number of viable foetuses and decreased foetal weight (Alkhawajah et al., 1996). Teratological findings in this study comprised an increased frequency of palatal and ocular anomalies (undeveloped eyes), asymmetrical brain hemispheres, and rudimentary 14<sup>th</sup> ribs (Alkhawajah et al., 1996). However, this study is regarded as not reliable because i) there is no information on the degree of maternal toxicity and ii) no information about statistical analysis.

#### 7.9.8.2.2. Information from human studies

In a prospective occupational cohort study with female workers from an Sb plant (161 women with high exposure, 157 women with lower exposure, 115 control women), increased incidences of late spontaneous abortions was observed (12.5% in the exposed

women vs 4.1% in the controls) as well as lower body weights of the children of exposed women after 3, 6, and 12 months (Belyaeva, 1967).

The analysis of trace elements (As, Cd, Co, Cr, Cu, Mn, Ni, Pb, Sb, Sr, Ti, Tl, V, Zn) in umbilical cord blood and the relation to the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes has been studied by Zheng et al. (Zheng et al., 2014). Ti and Sb were found at higher levels with statistical significance in the cord blood samples of the adverse pregnancy group compared to the reference group.

In another study (Longerich et al., 1991), fourteen trace elements (Mg, Cu, Zn, Sr, Y, Mo, Cd, Sn, Sb, I, Ba, Ce, Pb, and U) were determined in drinking water of 28 women, who had given birth to an infant with a neural tube defect (NTD), along with 28 matched controls (C). For 13 of the 14 determined elements, the mean of the NTD group exceeded the mean of the C group. For most elements, there were more extremely high values in the NTD group than in the C group. For each individual element, the difference in the results of the 2 groups, while not significantly different at the 95% confidence level, suggest a relationship of trace elements in drinking water with NTD.

For all of these studies confounding factors are possible and a causal relationship between Sb exposure and adverse pregnancy outcome cannot be proven.

#### 7.9.8.3. Conclusion

In conclusion, several studies with different routes of exposure demonstrate developmental effects of Sb compounds (Coelho et al., 2014a; Grin et al., 1987; Miranda et al., 2006; Paumgartten and Chahoud, 2001; Unpublished experimental study 4, 2017) including ATC (Alkhawajah et al., 1996; Angrisani et al., 1988; Marmo et al., 1987; Rossi et al., 1987). Thus, there is concern that ATC interferes with normal development of offspring in humans. Additionally, there is a concern for fertility effects. However, the available data are not sufficient to draw final conclusions.

## 7.9.9. Hazard assessment of physico-chemical properties

# **7.9.10.** Selection of the critical DNEL(s)/DMEL(s) and/or qualitative/semi-quantitative descriptors for critical health effects

The available studies cannot provide reliable points of departure for DNEL derivation.

7.9.10.1. Workers

It can be taken from the ECHA dissemination site (consulted: 12/06/2019), that the inhalation DNEL of the Registrants for workers is based on read across to ATO. Currently it is not clear whether this should be considered reasonable. Based on the results of the ongoing dossier evaluations on ATC and other Sb compounds and the results of the ongoing substance evaluations on other Sb compounds an improved data base is expected to be available. Thus a discussion of DNELs is postponed and will be initiated later, if considered necessary.

# **7.9.11.** Conclusions of the human health hazard assessment and related classification and labelling

#### Acute toxicity

Based on the available information, the registered substance can be regarded as acute toxic by the oral route with an  $LD_{50}$  of 50–400 mg/kg bw in rats and thus fulfils the criteria for classification as acute toxic Cat. 4, H 302, according to CLP.

The information from animal studies with antimony pentachloride and accidental exposure of humans, with a minimal lethal concentration of 131 mg/m<sup>3</sup> after 4-hour inhalation exposure to ATC (Chemie, 1994; MAK, 2007), indicates that ATC may also be acute toxic after inhalation, however the available data are not robust enough to derive a classification.

#### Corrosion/Irritation

ATC has a harmonized classification as skin corrosive 1B and STOT SE Cat.3 H335 'May cause respiratory irritation' (SCL C>5%), which is justified due to release of HCl when hydrolysed in contact with water.

#### Sensitisation

There is no information available to inform about potential skin sensitising properties of ATC and data on other Sb compounds do not give rise to such concerns.

#### Repeated dose toxicity

The eMSCA concludes that based on the available hazard information for ATC there is concern for repeated dose toxicity but the available data are insufficient to draw robust conclusions.

#### Mutagenicity

A concern for mutagenicity was identified from the available *in vitro* data where positive results were observed in bacterial and mammalian cell genotoxicity assays. The available data are insufficient to draw robust conclusions.

#### Carcinogenicity

The results of several chronic inhalation toxicity studies with ATO and Sb ore raise the concern that also ATC may lead to carcinogenicity after chronic inhalation exposure. However, insufficient information is available on the registered substance to draw robust conclusions about the potential carcinogenicity.

#### Toxicity to reproduction

The eMSCA concludes that based on the available hazard information for ATC and other Sb compounds there is concern for toxicity to reproduction but the available data are insufficient to draw robust conclusions.

#### Overall conclusion

As no exposure of consumers could be identified, occupational exposure was regarded as very low and in light of the on-going compliance check for ATC, the generation of new information by animal testing for ATC also under this process is considered not proportionate at this stage. Therefore, no further data were requested in the context of this substance evaluation.

# **7.10.** Assessment of endocrine disrupting (ED) properties

## **7.10.1. Endocrine disruption – Environment**

Not in the scope of this substance evaluation.

## 7.10.2. Endocrine disruption - Human health

Mechanistic studies with potassium antimony tartrate and ATC indicate some endocrine activity of Sb compounds potentially affecting the reproductive system (Choe et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2018). Potassium antimony tartrate has been demonstrated to promote growth and invasion of the androgen-sensitive prostate cancer cell line LNCaP in vitro and in vivo after implantation into mice (Zhang et al., 2018). It is suggested by these authors that the promotion of tumour growth is mediated by Sb-induced phosphorylation of the androgen receptor. Furthermore, this study reports increased serum levels of Sb in prostate cancer patients and a correlation with poor therapy outcome (Zhang et al., 2018). It is important to note in this context that the incidence of epithelial hyperplasia in the prostate of rats was increased in a chronic inhalation study with ATO (NTP, 2017b). In addition, oestrogenic activity of ATC was demonstrated in vitro using an oestrogen receptor transactivation assay as well as an E-screen assay (Choe et al., 2003). Relative potency in the transactivation assay was 0.16% compared to 17B-estradiol and the relative proliferative effect in the E-screen was 0.43% compared to  $17\beta$ -estradiol. However, since no guideline studies investigating ED-sensitive parameters are available for ATC, no conclusion can be drawn on potential estrogenic or androgenic ED effects of ATC in vivo.

Deposition of Sb in the thyroid gland after exposure to different Sb compounds including ATC has been documented in several studies (Coelho et al., 2014b; Djuric et al., 1962; Friedrich et al., 2012; Kramer, 1950) but studies on effects of Sb on the thyroid system are limited. Thyroid hypertrophy/hyperplasia was reported after dietary exposure to ATO in rats and this effect could be prevented by simultaneous application of thyroxine (T4) (Westrick, 1953). Furthermore, when co-applied, ATO augmented the stimulatory action of T4 on oxygen consumption. To the best of our knowledge, no other oral studies investigating thyroid parameters are available for ATO. On the other hand, several inhalative studies with ATO reported no effects on thyroid gland histology in rats (Groth et al., 1986; Newton et al., 1994; NTP, 2017a).

Histological findings in the thyroid of rats were reported for potassium antimony tartrate applied for 90-days via the drinking water (already at the lowest dose of 0.5 ppm) (Poon et al., 1998). These findings included reduced follicle size, collapsed follicles, increased epithelial height, and cytoplasmatic vacuolization and nuclear vesiculation in thyroid follicle cells of males and females. However, plasma total T4 was not significantly changed but a slight increase in plasma thyroid hormone-binding ratio was detected in the two highest doses in females. Histological changes in the pituitary were also observed (cytoplasmic vacuolization and inclusions). It remains unknown whether the pituitary findings are related to effects on thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) production or secretion since TSH plasma levels were not determined. It should be noted that in a 90day study (NTP, 1992), i.p. injection of antimony potassium tartrate did not result in any histological effects in the thyroid or pituitary. The reasons for the discrepancies between the study by Poon et al. (Poon et al., 1998) and the NTP study (NTP, 1992) are not clear but are possibly related to the differences in the exposure regime (continuous exposure via the drinking water in (Poon et al., 1998) vs. i.p. injection 3 times per week in (NTP, 1992)). In rabbits, similarly no effects on thyroid histology and oxygen consumption or cholesterol levels (as read-out for changes in thyroid activity) where detected after 21day exposure to antimony potassium tartrate (1 mg Sb/ bw/day) via i.v. injection (Kramer, 1950).

A human cross-sectional study found a negative correlation between Sb in blood (collected around 25 weeks gestation) and fT4 (n = 915 pregnant women, 11 metals analysed) (Guo et al., 2016). No causality can be derived from this study and no such correlation was found in Christensen (2013) (n = 1537 adults, Sb and other metals analysed in urine).

In summary, given the well documented deposition of Sb in the thyroid gland of different species combined with histological findings in the thyroid gland in some studies, there is a concern for a potential interaction of Sb with the thyroid system. However, no guideline studies investigating any thyroid parameters are available for ATC. Therefore, no conclusion can be drawn on the potential thyroid-disrupting effects of ATC.

# **7.10.3.** Conclusion on endocrine disrupting properties (combined/separate)

The eMSCA concludes that based on the available hazard information for ATC there is concern for endocrine disruption (human health) but the available data are insufficient to draw robust conclusions.

As no exposure of consumers could be identified, occupational exposure was regarded as very low and in light of the on-going compliance check for ATC, the generation of new information by animal testing for ATC also under this process was considered not proportionate at this stage. Therefore, no further data were requested in the context of this substance evaluation.

# 7.11. PBT and VPVB assessment

Not assessed since the SEv was targeted to human health concerns.

# 7.12. Exposure assessment

## 7.12.1. Human health

#### 7.12.1.1. Worker

Besides the manufacture of ATC, occupational exposure is limited to a single industrial use, the use of ATC for the manufacture of ATO in the pigment industry. The eMSCA concludes, that the potential for exposure is very low. This conclusion is supported by the low annual tonnage of 10 - 100 t.

## 7.12.1.2. Consumer

As there are no consumer uses known to the eMSCA, an exposure assessment is not applicable at this point.

## 7.12.2. Environment

Not in the scope of this substance evaluation.

# 7.13. Risk characterisation

#### 7.13.1. Workers

The ongoing dossier evaluations on ATC and other Sb compounds and the ongoing substance evaluations on other Sb compounds are expected to generate further information on the hazardous properties of trivalent Sb and possible read across options. With respect to the evaluation of Sb as a constituent in ATC it is considered to be reasonable to await the results of these activities.

Since currently no DNELs can be derived for ATC (see 7.9.10), a provisional qualitative risk characterisation is performed according to the REACH guidance on information requirements and chemical safety assessment (Part E: Risk Characterisation, chapter E.3.4). Based on the harmonised classification (Skin Corr. Cat. 1B (H314), STOT SE Cat. 3 (H335)) and the additional classification derived in chapter 7.9.3 (Acute toxicity Cat. 3 (H311), acute toxicity Cat. 4 (H302)) ATC is assorted to the moderate hazard band of table E.3-1 of the guidance. As the occupational exposure of ATC is considered to be very low, the eMSCA considers that the corresponding risk management measures are acceptable. Only manufacture and uses at industrial sites (manufacture of ATO in the pigment industry) are mentioned on the ECHA dissemination site (consulted: 12/06/2019).

# 7.14. References

Agarwal S., Zaman T., Tuzcu E.M., and Kapadia S.R. (2011): Heavy metals and cardiovascular disease: results from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 1999-2006. Angiology 62 (5), 422-429. DOI: 10.1177/0003319710395562 [not included in the current dossier]

Alkhawajah A.M., Jain S., and Larbi E.B. (1996): Effects of antimony compounds on foetal development in rats. Journal of Applied Animal Research 10 (1), 15-24 [not included in the current dossier]

Angrisani M., Lampa E., Lisa M., Matera C., Marrazzo R., Scafuro M.A., Rossi F., and Marmo E. (1988): Vasomotor reactivity and postnatal exposure to antimony trichloride. Curr Ther Res Clin Exp 43 (1), 153-159 **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Arlauskas A., Baker R.S.U., Bonin A.M., Tandon R.K., Crisp P.T., and Ellis J. (1985): MUTAGENICITY OF METAL-IONS IN BACTERIA. Environmental Research 36 (2), 379-388. DOI: 10.1016/0013-9351(85)90032-5

Arzamastsev E.V. (1964): [Experimental Basis for the Maximum Permissible Concentration of Tri- and Pentavalent Antimony in Water Reservoirs]. Gig Sanit 29, 16-20 **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Asakura K., Satoh H., Chiba M., Okamoto M., Serizawa K., Nakano M., and Omae K. (2009): Genotoxicity studies of heavy metals: lead, bismuth, indium, silver and antimony. Journal of occupational health 51 (6), 498-512

ATSDR (2017): Toxicological Profile for Antimony and Compounds. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Bailly R., Lauwerys R., Buchet J.P., Mahieu P., and Konings J. (1991): Experimental and human studies on antimony metabolism: their relevance for the biological monitoring of workers exposed to inorganic antimony. British journal of industrial medicine 48 (2), 93-97

Belyaeva A.P. (1967): The effect produced by antimony on the generative function. Gigiena truda i professional'nye zabolevaniia 11 (1), 32-37

Bento D.B., de Souza B., Steckert A.V., Dias R.O., Leffa D.D., Moreno S.E., Petronilho F., de Andrade V.M., Dal-Pizzol F., and Romao P.R. (2013): Oxidative stress in mice treated with antileishmanial meglumine antimoniate. Res Vet Sci 95 (3), 1134-1141. DOI: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2013.08.004

Brieger H., Semisch C.W., Stasney J., and Piatnek D.A. (1954): Industrial Antimony Poisoning. Industrial Medicine and Surgery 23 (12), 521-523 [not included in the current dossier]

Cantanhede L.F., Almeida L.P., Soares R.E., Castelo Branco P.V., and Pereira S.R. (2015): Soy isoflavones have antimutagenic activity on DNA damage induced by the antileishmanial Glucantime (meglumine antimoniate). Drug Chem Toxicol 38 (3), 312-317. DOI: 10.3109/01480545.2014.963599

Casals J.B. (1972): Pharmacokinetic and toxicological studies of antimony dextran glycoside (RL-712). British journal of pharmacology 46 (2), 281-288 **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Cavallo D., Iavicoli I., Setini A., Marinaccio A., Perniconi B., Carelli G., and Iavicoli S. (2002): Genotoxic risk and oxidative DNA damage in workers exposed to antimony trioxide. Environmental and molecular mutagenesis 40 (3), 184-189. DOI: 10.1002/em.10102

Chemie B. (1994): Antimony-III-chloride. in: Toxicological evaluations 11, Potential hazards of existing chemicals, Springer Verlag, Heidelberg, 193–21. Berufsgenossenschaft der chemischen Industrie **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Choe S.Y., Kim S.J., Kim H.G., Lee J.H., Choi Y., Lee H., and Kim Y. (2003): Evaluation of estrogenicity of major heavy metals. Science Of The Total Environment 312 (1-3), 15-21. DOI: 10.1016/S0048-9697(03)00190-6 [not included in the current dossier]

Christensen K.L.Y. (2013): Metals in blood and urine, and thyroid function among adults in the United States 2007-2008. International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health 216 (6), 624-632. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijheh.2012.08.005

Coelho D.R., De-Carvalho R.R., Rocha R.C., Saint'Pierre T.D., and Paumgartten F.J. (2014a): Effects of in utero and lactational exposure to SbV on rat neurobehavioral development and fertility. Reproductive toxicology (Elmsford, N.Y.) 50, 98-107. DOI: 10.1016/j.reprotox.2014.10.016

Coelho D.R., Miranda E.S., Saint'Pierre T.D., and Paumgartten F.J. (2014b): Tissue distribution of residual antimony in rats treated with multiple doses of meglumine antimoniate. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz 109 (4), 420-427

Cooper D.A., Pendergrass E.P., Vorwald A.J., Mayock R.L., and Brieger H. (1968): Pneumoconiosis among Workers in an Antimony Industry. American Journal of Roentgenology 103 (3), 495-508. DOI: 10.2214/ajr.103.3.495

de Jesus L.C.L., Soares R.P., Moreira V.R., Pontes R.L., Castelo-Branco P.V., and Pereira S.R.F. (2018): Genistein and Ascorbic Acid reduce oxidative stress-derived DNA damage induced by antileishmanial meglumine antimoniate. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. DOI: 10.1128/aac.00456-18

Derr R., Cortvrindt R., Braibant C., and Hendriks G. (2017): Genotoxicity Assessment of Antimony Compounds Using the Toxtracker Assay. The 12th International Conference & 5th Asian Congress on Enviuroenmental Mutagens with the 33rd Annual Meeting of KSOT/KEMS Abstract Book (OS04-7), p. 162

[https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=161&ved=162ah UKEwiA196uzq169HeAhULAcAKHWIjBPsQFjAAegQIAhAC&url=http%163A%162F%162Fw ww.icem2017.org%2012Fdata%2012FICEM2017 Abstracts.pdf&usg=AOvVaw2010yV V QLIuIBMRnjMiPc2011Ax] [not included in the current dossier]

Djuric D., Thomas R.G., and Lie R. (1962): The distribution and excretion of trivalent antimony in the rat following inhalation. Internationales Archiv für Gewerbepathologie und Gewerbehygiene 19, 529-545 **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Dzamitika S.A., Falcão C.A.B., De Oliveira F.B., Marbeuf C., Garnier-Suillerot A., Demicheli C., Rossi-Bergmann B., and Frézard F. (2006): Role of residual Sb(III) in meglumine antimoniate cytotoxicity and MRP1-mediated resistance. Chemico-Biological Interactions 160 (3), 217-224. DOI: 10.1016/j.cbi.2006.01.008 [not included in the current dossier]

Eastman Kodak Co (1992): Initial submission: Toxicity studies with antimony trichloride in rats and guinea pigs with cover letter dated 081092, NTIS/OTS 0544134, EPA/OTS Doc ID 88-920005160, NTIS, Springfield, VA, USA **[not included in the current dossier]** 

ECHA (2017): Guidance on Information Requirements and Chemical Safety Assessment -Chapter R.7a: Endpoint specific guidance. Guidance Document of the European Chemicals Agency Version 6.0 ([https://echa.europa.eu/documents/10162/13632/information requirements r7a en.pd f/e4a2a18f-a2bd-4a04-ac6d-0ea425b2567f]) [not included in the current dossier]

El Nahas S., Temtamy S.A., and Dehondt H.A. (1982): CYTOGENETIC EFFECTS OF 2 ANTIMONIAL ANTI-BILHARZIAL DRUGS - TARTAR EMETIC AND BILHARCID. Environmental Mutagenesis 4 (1), 83-91

El Shanawany S., Foda N., Hashad D.I., Salama N., and Sobh Z. (2017): The potential DNA toxic changes among workers exposed to antimony trioxide. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 24 (13), 12455-12461. DOI: 10.1007/s11356-017-8805-z [not included in the current dossier]

Elliott B.M., Mackay J.M., Clay P., and Ashby J. (1998): An assessment of the genetic toxicology of antimony trioxide. Mutation Research/Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis 415 (1-2), 109-117. DOI: 10.1016/s1383-5718(98)00065-5

EPA (1988): Results of the Genotoxic Action of Antimony Ions, study conducted by the Austrian Research Center. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC. Office of Toxic Substances EPA Doc No. 88-880000045; Fiche # OTS0514382

EU (2008): European Union Risk Assessment Report Diantimony trioxide; CAS No: 1309-64-4, EINECS No: 215-175-0

Friedrich K., Vieira F.A., Porrozzi R., Marchevsky R.S., Miekeley N., Grimaldi G., and Paumgartten F.J.R. (2012): Disposition of antimony in rhesus monkeys infected with Leishmania braziliensis and treated with meglumine antimoniate. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health - Part A: Current Issues 75 (2), 63-75. DOI: 10.1080/15287394.2012.624826 **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Gebel T. (1998): Suppression of arsenic-induced chromosome mutagenicity by antimony. Mutation Research 412 (3), 213-218

Gebel T., Birkenkamp P., Luthin S., and Dunkelberg H. (1998): Arsenic(III), but not antimony(III), induces DNA-protein crosslinks. Anticancer Res 18 (6A), 4253-4257

Gebel T., Christensen S., and Dunkelberg H. (1997): Comparative and environmental genotoxicity of antimony and arsenic. Anticancer research 17 (4A), 2603-2607

Gerber G.B., Maes J., and Eykens B. (1982): Transfer of antimony and arsenic to the developing organism. Archives of Toxicology 49 (2), 159-168

Grin N.V., Govorunova N.N., Bessemrnyy A.N., and Pavlovich L.V. (1987): [Embryotoxic action of antimony oxide in an experiment]. Gigiena i sanitariia 10, 85-86

Gross P., Brown J.H., Westrick M.L., Srsic R.P., Butler N.L., and Hatch T.F. (1955): Toxicologic study of calcium halophosphate phosphors and antimony trioxide. I. Acute and chronic toxicity and some pharmacologic aspects. A.M.A. archives of industrial health 11 (6), 473-478

Grosskopf C., Schwerdtle T., Mullenders L.H., and Hartwig A. (2010): Antimony impairs nucleotide excision repair: XPA and XPE as potential molecular targets. Chemical research in toxicology 23 (7), 1175-1183. DOI: 10.1021/tx100106x

Groth D.H., Stettler L.E., Burg J.R., Busey W.M., Grant G.C., and Wong L. (1986): Carcinogenic effects of antimony trioxide and antimony ore concentrate in rats. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health 18 (4), 607-626

Guo J., Su L.L., Zhao X.Y., Xu Z.P., and Chen G.D. (2016): Relationships between urinary antimony levels and both mortalities and prevalence of cancers and heart diseases in

general US population, NHANES 1999-2010. Science Of The Total Environment 571, 452-460. DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.07.011 **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Gurnani N., Sharma A., and Talukder G. (1992a): Comparison of the clastogenic effects of antimony trioxide on mice in vivo following acute and chronic exposure. Biometals 5 (1), 47-50

Gurnani N., Sharma A., and Talukder G. (1992b): Cytotoxic effects of antimony trichloride on mice in vivo. Cytobios 70 (281), 131-136

Gurnani N., Sharma A., and Talukder G. (1993): Comparison of clastogenic effects of antimony and bismuth as trioxides on mice in vivo. Biological trace element research 37 (2-3), 281-292. DOI: 10.1007/BF02783802

Hantson P., Leonard E.D., CrutzenFayt M.C., Leonard A., Vandercam B., Delaere B., and Mahieu P. (1996): Cytogenetic observations after meglumine antimonate therapy for visceral leishmaniasis. Pharmacotherapy 16 (5), 869-871

Harkness J.E. and Wagner J.E. (1989): The Biology and Medicine of Rabbits and Rodents. Lea & Febiger, U.S. ISBN: 978-0812111767

Hartman P.E., Levine K., Hartman Z., and Berger H. (1971): Hycanthone: A Frameshift Mutagen. Science 172 (3987), 1058-1060. DOI: 10.1126/science.172.3987.1058

Harvey S.C. (1971): Chapter 46 - Heavy metals. In: The pharmacological basis of therapeutics - A textbook of pharmacology, toxicology, and therapeutics for physicians and medical students (Goodman L.S. and Gilman A., eds.), ed. Forth edition, pp. 965-967. The Macmillian Company, London **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Hendriks G., Derr R., Racz P., Zeijdel L., and Vrieling H. (2017): Application of the ToxTracker reporter assay in a mode of action approach for genetic toxicology assessment. Toxicology letters 280, S254-S254. DOI: 10.1016/j.toxlet.2017.07.906

Hext P.M., Pinto P.J., and Rimmel B.A. (1999): Subchronic feeding study of antimony trioxide in rats. Journal of applied toxicology 19 (3), 205-209

Honey M. (1960): The effects of sodium antimony tartrate on the myocardium. Br Heart J 22, 601-616 **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Huang H., Shu S.C., Shih J.H., Kuo C.J., and Chiu I.D. (1998): Antimony trichloride induces DNA damage and apoptosis in mammalian cells. Toxicology 129 (2-3), 113-123

i2a (2018a): Scientific opinion, provisional read-across justification, and further research opportunities - Human Health: Genotoxicity **[not included in the current dossier]** 

i2a (2018b): Scientific opinion, provisional read-across justification, and further research opportunities - Human Health: Lung toxicity and carcinogenicity **[not included in the current dossier]** 

i2a (2018c): Scientific opinion, provisional read-across justification, and further research opportunities - Human Health: Reproductive Toxicity **[not included in the current dossier]** 

i2a (2019a): Scientific opinion, weight of evidence and read-across assessment, and further research opportunities - Human Health: Lung toxicity and carcinogenicity. International Antimony Association (i2a) Version 2 (18 June 2019)

i2a (2019b): Scientific opinion, weight of evidence and read-across assessment, and further research options - Human Health: Genotoxicity. International Antimony Association (i2a) Version 2 (17 June 2019)

i2a (2019c): Scientific opinion, weight of evidence and read-across assessment, and further research options - Human Health: Reproductive Toxicity. International Antimony Association (i2a) Version 2 (17 June 2019)

Inaba J., Nishimura Y., and Ichikawa R. (1983): Metabolism of Antimony-125 in the rat. Journal of Radiation Research 24 (1), 31. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1269/jrr.24.1</u>

Izmerov N.F., Sanotsky I.V., and Sidorov K.K. (1982): Toxicometric parameters of industrial toxic chemicals under single exposure, pp. 22-23. Centre of International Projects, Moscow, Russia **[not included in the current dossier]** 

James L.F., Lazar V.A., and Binns W. (1966): Effects of sublethal doses of certain minerals on pregnant ewes and fetal development. Am J Vet Res 27 (116), 132-135 [not included in the current dossier]

Jiang X., An Z., Lu C., Chen Y., Du E., Qi S., Yang K., Zhang Z., and Xu Y. (2016): The protective role of Nrf2-Gadd45b against antimony-induced oxidative stress and apoptosis in HEK293 cells. Toxicology letters 256, 11-18. DOI: 10.1016/j.toxlet.2016.05.016 [not included in the current dossier]

Jones R.D. (1994): Survey of antimony workers: mortality 1961-1992. Occupational and Environmental Medicine 51 (11), 772-776

Jones S.R., Atkin P., Holroyd C., Lutman E., Batlle J.V., Wakeford R., and Walker P. (2007): Lung cancer mortality at a UK tin smelter. Occupational medicine (Oxford, England) 57 (4), 238-245. DOI: 10.1093/occmed/kql153

Kanematsu N., Hara M., and Kada T. (1980): Rec assay and mutagenicity studies on metal compounds. Mutation Research 77 (2), 109-116

Karajovic D. (1957): Pneumoconiosis amongst workers in Antimony Smelting Plant, 116-117. Proceedings of the International Congress on Occupational Health 1957

Kato K.C., Morais-Teixeira E., Reis P.G., Silva-Barcellos N.M., Salaun P., Campos P.P., Correa J.D., Rabello A., Demicheli C., and Frezard F. (2014): Hepatotoxicity of Pentavalent Antimonial Drug: Possible Role of Residual Sb(III) and Protective Effect of Ascorbic Acid. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 58 (1), 481-488. DOI: 10.1128/aac.01499-13 [not included in the current dossier]

Kirkland D., Whitwell J., Deyo J., and Serex T. (2007): Failure of antimony trioxide to induce micronuclei or chromosomal aberrations in rat bone-marrow after sub-chronic oral dosing. Mutation Research 627 (2), 119-128. DOI: 10.1016/j.mrgentox.2006.10.012

Klucik I., Juck A., and Gruberova J. (1962): Lesions of the respiratory tract and the lungs caused by pulverulent Antimony trioxide. Pracovni Lekarstvi 14, 363-368

Koch B., Maser E., and Hartwig A. (2017): Low concentrations of antimony impair DNA damage signaling and the repair of radiation-induced DSB in HeLa S3 cells. Archives of Toxicology. DOI: 10.1007/s00204-017-2004-z

Kopp B., Zalko D., and Audebert M. (2017): Genotoxicity of 11 heavy metals detected as food contaminants in two human cell lines. Environmental and molecular mutagenesis, n/a-n/a. DOI: 10.1002/em.22157

Kramer L.B. (1950): Antimony concentration in the thyroid gland and its effect upon metabolic rate and senun cholesterol level. Bulletin of the Johns Hopkins Hospital 86, 179-181

Kubo T., Urano K., and Utsumi H. (2002): Mutagenicity characteristics of 255 environmental chemicals. Journal of Health Science 48 (6), 545-554. DOI: 10.1248/jhs.48.545 **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Kuroda K., Endo G., Okamoto A., Yoo Y.S., and Horiguchi S.-i. (1991): Genotoxicity of beryllium, gallium and antimony in short-term assays. Mutation Research Letters 264 (4), 163-170. DOI: 10.1016/0165-7992(91)90072-C

Kuryshev Y.A., Wang L., Wible B.A., Wan X., and Ficker E. (2006): Antimony-based antileishmanial compounds prolong the cardiac action potential by an increase in cardiac calcium currents. Mol Pharmacol 69 (4), 1216-1225. DOI: 10.1124/mol.105.019281 [not included in the current dossier]

Lantzsch H. and Gebel T. (1997): Genotoxicity of selected metal compounds in the SOS chromotest. Mutation Research 389 (2-3), 191-197

Lima M.I., Arruda V.O., Alves E.V., de Azevedo A.P., Monteiro S.G., and Pereira S.R. (2010): Genotoxic effects of the antileishmanial drug Glucantime. Archives of Toxicology 84 (3), 227-232. DOI: 10.1007/s00204-009-0485-0

Longerich H.P., Friel J.K., Fraser C., Jackson S.E., and Fryer B.J. (1991): Analysis of the drinking water of mothers of neural tube defect infants and of normal infants for 14 selected trace elements by Inductively Coupled Plasma-Mass Spectrometry (ICP-MS). Can J Appl Spectroscopy 36 (1), 15-21 **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Lynch B.S., Capen C.C., Nestmann E.R., Veenstra G., and Deyo J.A. (1999): Review of subchronic/chronic toxicity of antimony potassium tartrate. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 30 (1), 9-17. DOI: 10.1006/rtph.1999.1312

Maciel N.R., Reis P.G., Kato K.C., Vidal A.T., Guimaraes H.N., Frezard F., Silva-Barcellos N.M., and Grabe-Guimaraes A. (2010): Reduced cardiovascular alterations of tartar emetic administered in long-circulating liposomes in rats. Toxicology letters 199 (3), 234-238. DOI: 10.1016/j.toxlet.2010.09.004 **[not included in the current dossier]** 

MAK (2007): Antimony and its inorganic compounds. The MAK-Collection Part I: MAK Value Documentations, Vol. 23, Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG), WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Marmo E., Matera M.G., Acampora R., Vacca C., De Santis D., Maione S., Susanna V., Chieppa S., Guarino V., Servodio R., Cuparencu B., and Rossi F. (1987): Prenatal and postnatal metal exposure: Effect on vasomotor reactivity development of pups. Experimental research with antimony trichloride, thallium sulfate, and sodium metavanadate. Current Therapeutic Research - Clinical and Experimental 42 (5), 823-838 **[not included in the current dossier]** 

McCallum R.I. (1963): The Work of an Occupational Hygiene Service in Environmental Control. Annals of Occupational Hygiene. DOI: 10.1093/annhyg/6.2.55

McCallum R.I. (1967): Detection of Antimony in Process Workers' Lungs by X-Radiation. The Transactions of the Society of Occupational Medicine 17 (4), 134-138. DOI: 10.1093/occmed/17.4.134

McCallum R.I., Day M.J., Underhill J., and Aird E.G. (1970): Measurement of antimony oxide dust in human lungs in vivo by X-ray spectrophotometry. Inhaled particles 2, 611-619

Migliore L., Cocchi L., Nesti C., and Sabbioni E. (1999): Micronuclei assay and FISH analysis in human lymphocytes treated with six metal salts. Environmental and molecular mutagenesis 34 (4), 279-284. DOI: 10.1002/(sici)1098-2280(1999)34:4<279::aid-em8>3.0.co;2-7

Miranda E.S., Miekeley N., De-Carvalho R.R., and Paumgartten F.J. (2006): Developmental toxicity of meglumine antimoniate and transplacental transfer of antimony in the rat. Reproductive toxicology (Elmsford, N.Y.) 21 (3), 292-300. DOI: 10.1016/j.reprotox.2005.09.010

Moreira V.R., de Jesus L.C.L., Soares R.P., Silva L.D.M., Pinto B.A.S., Melo M.N., Paes A.M.A., and Pereira S.R.F. (2017): Meglumine Antimoniate (Glucantime) Causes Oxidative Stress-Derived DNA Damage in BALB/c Mice Infected by Leishmania (Leishmania) infantum. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 61 (6). DOI: 10.1128/AAC.02360-16

Navas-Acien A., Silbergeld E.K., Sharrett A.R., Calderon-Aranda E., Selvin E., and Guallar E. (2005): Metals in urine and peripheral arterial disease. Environmental health perspectives 113 (2), 164-169. DOI: 10.1289/ehp.7329 **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Newton P.E., Bolte H.F., Daly I.W., Pillsbury B.D., Terrill J.B., Drew R.T., Bendyke R., Sheldon A.W., and Rubin L.F. (1994): Subchronic and chronic inhalation toxicity of antimony trioxide in the rat. Fundamental and Applied Toxicology 22 (4), 561-576. DOI: 10.1006/faat.1994.1063

Nigra A.E., Ruiz-Hernandez A., Redon J., Navas-Acien A., and Tellez-Plaza M. (2016): Environmental Metals and Cardiovascular Disease in Adults: A Systematic Review Beyond Lead and Cadmium. Current environmental health reports 3 (4), 416-433. DOI: 10.1007/s40572-016-0117-9 **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Nishioka H. (1975): Mutagenic activities of metal compounds in bacteria. Mutat Res Sect Environ Mutagen Relat Subj 31 (3), 185-190

NTP (1992): TOXICITY STUDIES OF ANTIMONY POTASSIUM TARTRATE IN F344/N RATS AND B6C3F1 MICE (DRINKING WATER AND INTRAPERITONEAL INJECTION STUDIES). NIH Publication No. 923130. National Toxicology Program. National Institutes of Health, Research Triangle Park, NC, Study report

NTP (2017a): Draft Report on Carcinogens Monograph on Antimony Trioxide. November 29, 2017, National Toxicology Program, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Office of the Report on Carcinogens, Division of the National Toxicology Program, National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

NTP (2017b): NTP Technical Report on the Toxicology and Carcinogenesis Studies of Antimony trioxide (CAS No. 1309-64-4) in Wistar Han [Crl:WI (Han)] rats and B6C3F1/N mice, date: December 2017. National Toxicology Program, Research Triangle Park, NC, Peer Reviewed Report

O'Brien W. (1959): The effects of antimony on the heart. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 53, 482-486 [not included in the current dossier]

Omura M., Tanaka A., Hirata M., and Inoue N. (2002): Testicular toxicity evaluation of two antimony compounds, antimony trioxide and antimony potassium tartrate, in rats and mice. Environmental health and preventive medicine 7 (1), 15-18. DOI: 10.1007/BF02898061

Paton G.R. and Allison A.C. (1972): CHROMOSOME DAMAGE IN HUMAN CELL-CULTURES INDUCED BY METAL-SALTS. Mutation Research 16 (3), 332-&. DOI: 10.1016/0027-5107(72)90166-2 **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Paumgartten F.J. and Chahoud I. (2001): Embryotoxicity of meglumine antimoniate in the rat. Reproductive toxicology (Elmsford, N.Y.) 15 (3), 327-331 [not included in the current dossier]

Poon R., Chu I., Lecavalier P., Valli V.E., Foster W., Gupta S., and Thomas B. (1998): Effects of antimony on rats following 90-day exposure via drinking water. Food and Chemical Toxicology 36 (1), 21-35. DOI: 10.1016/s0278-6915(97)80120-2 [not included in the current dossier]

Potkonjak V. and Pavlovich M. (1983): Antimoniosis: a particular form of pneumoconiosis. I. Etiology, clinical and X-ray findings. International archives of occupational and environmental health 51 (3), 199-207

Renes L.E. (1953): Antimony poisoning in industry. A.M.A. archives of industrial hygiene and occupational medicine 7 (2), 99-108

Rossi F., Acampora R., Vacca C., Maione S., Matera M.G., Servodio R., and Marmo E. (1987): Prenatal and postnatal antimony exposure in rats: effect on vasomotor reactivity development of pups. Teratogenesis, Carcinogenesis, and Mutagenesis 7 (5), 491-496 **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Schaumlöffel N. and Gebel T. (1998): Heterogeneity of the DNA damage provoked by antimony and arsenic. Mutagenesis 13 (3), 281-286

Schnorr T.M., Steenland K., Thun M.J., and Rinsky R.A. (1995): Mortality in a cohort of antimony smelter workers. American journal of industrial medicine 27 (5), 759-770

Shiue I. (2014): Higher urinary heavy metal, arsenic, and phthalate concentrations in people with high blood pressure: US NHANES, 2009-2010. Blood Pressure 23 (6), 363-369. DOI: 10.3109/08037051.2014.925228 **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Smith M.T., Guyton K.Z., Gibbons C.F., Fritz J.M., Portier C.J., Rusyn I., DeMarini D.M., Caldwell J.C., Kavlock R.J., Lambert P.F., Hecht S.S., Bucher J.R., Stewart B.W., Baan R.A., Cogliano V.J., and Straif K. (2016): Key Characteristics of Carcinogens as a Basis for Organizing Data on Mechanisms of Carcinogenesis. Environmental health perspectives 124 (6), 713-721. DOI: 10.1289/ehp.1509912

Smyth H.R. and Thompson W.L. (1945): The single dose and subacute toxicity of antimony oxide (Sb2O3). NTIS Issue Number 200808. Carnegie-Mellon Institute of Industrial Research UoP, Technical Report

Snawder J.E., Tirmenstein M.A., Mathias P.I., and Toraason M. (1999): Induction of stress proteins in rat cardiac myocytes by antimony. Toxicology and applied pharmacology 159 (2), 91-97. DOI: 10.1006/taap.1999.8739 [not included in the current dossier]

Sunagawa S. (1981): [Experimental studies on antimony poisoning (author's transl)]. Igaku Kenkyu 51 (3), 129-142

Takahashi S., Sato H., Kubota Y., Utsumi H., Bedford J.S., and Okayasu R. (2002): Inhibition of DNA-double strand break repair by antimony compounds. Toxicology 180 (3), 249-256. DOI: 10.1016/S0300-483X(02)00401-8

Taylor P.J. (1966): Acute intoxication from antimony trichloride. British journal of industrial medicine 23, 4 [not included in the current dossier]

Thakur C.P. and Narayan S. (2004): A comparative evaluation of amphotericin B and sodium antimony gluconate, as first-line drugs in the treatment of Indian visceral leishmaniasis. Annals of tropical medicine and parasitology 98 (2), 129-138. DOI: 10.1179/000349804225003154 **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Tirmenstein M.A., Flews P.I., Walker C.V., Woolery M.D., Wey H.E., and Toraason M.A. (1995): Antimony-induced oxidative stress and toxicity in cultured cardiac myocytes. Toxicology and applied pharmacology 130 (1), 41-47. DOI: 10.1006/taap.1995.1006 **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Tirmenstein M.A., Mathias P.I., Snawder J.E., Wey H.E., and Toraason M. (1997): Antimony-induced alterations in thiol homeostasis and adenine nucleotide status in cultured cardiac myocytes. Toxicology 119 (3), 203-211. DOI: 10.1016/S0300-483X(97)03628-7 **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Tu A.S. and Sivak A. (1984): Evaluation of antimony thioantimonate in three in vitro short-term assays. Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, OH: U.S. Air Force Aerospace Medical Research Laboratory ADA150348 **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Unpublished experimental study 1 (1988): Genotoxic action of antimony ions

Unpublished experimental study 2 (2014): Prenatal developmental toxicity study of sodium hexahydroxoantimonate in rats by oral administration

Unpublished experimental study 3 (2017): ToxTracker Test report **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Unpublished experimental study 4 (2017): Prenatal developmental toxicity study of antimony powder in rabbits by oral administration according to OECD guidance 414 and EC method B.31

Unpublished experimental study 5 (2003): An inhalation developmental toxicity study in rats with antimony trioxide

Valli V.E., Poon R., Chu I., Gupta S., and Thomas B.H. (2000): Subchronic/chronic toxicity of antimony potassium tartrate. Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology 32 (3), 337-340. DOI: 10.1006/rtph.2000.1414

Verdugo M., Ruiz Encinar J., Costa-Fernandez J.M., Menendez-Miranda M., Bouzas-Ramos D., Bravo M., and Quiroz W. (2017): Study of conformational changes and protein aggregation of bovine serum albumin in presence of Sb(III) and Sb(V). Plos One 12 (2), e0170869. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0170869 **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Wang Z.A.N., An F., Gao Z., and et al. (1998): An experimental study on effects of antimony on anti-oxidase system on liver mitochondria mice. Zhonghua Yufang Yixue Zazhi 32 (4), 229-230 **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Watt W.D. (1983): Chronic inhalation toxicity of antimony trioxide: validation of the threshold limit value, Wayne State University

Westrick M.L. (1953): Physiologic responses attending administration of antimony, alone or with simultaneous injections of thyroxin. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine. Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine (New York, N.Y.) 82 (1), 56-60 [not included in the current registration dossier]

WHO (2003): Antimony in Drinking-water. Background document for development of WHO Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality World Health Organization

Wyllie S. and Fairlamb A.H. (2006): Differential toxicity of antimonial compounds and their effects on glutathione homeostasis in a human leukaemia monocyte cell line. Biochemical Pharmacology 71 (3), 257-267. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2005.10.043</u> [not included in the current dossier]

Yamamoto A., Kohyama Y., and Hanawa T. (2002): Mutagenicity evaluation of forty-one metal salts by the umu test. Journal Of Biomedical Materials Research 59 (1), 176-183. DOI: 10.1002/jbm.1231

Zeiger E., Anderson B., Haworth S., Lawlor T., and Mortelmans K. (1992): SALMONELLA MUTAGENICITY TESTS .5. RESULTS FROM THE TESTING OF 311 CHEMICALS. Environmental and molecular mutagenesis 19, 2-141. DOI: 10.1002/em.2850190603 [not included in the current dossier]

Zhang C., Li P., Wen Y., Feng G., Liu Y., Zhang Y., Xu Y., and Zhang Z. (2018): The promotion on cell growth of androgen-dependent prostate cancer by antimony via mimicking androgen activity. Toxicology letters 288, 136-142. DOI: 10.1016/j.toxlet.2018.02.021 **[not included in the current dossier]** 

Zhao X., Xing F., Cong Y., Zhuang Y., Han M., Wu Z., Yu S., Wei H., Wang X., and Chen G. (2017): Antimony trichloride induces a loss of cell viability via reactive oxygen species-dependent autophagy in A549 cells. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 93, 32-40. DOI: 10.1016/j.biocel.2017.10.007 [not included in the current dossier]

Zheng G.C., Zhong H.X., Guo Z.Z., Wu Z.C., Zhang H.Q., Wang C.G., Zhou Y.L., and Zuo Z.H. (2014): Levels of Heavy Metals and Trace Elements in Umbilical Cord Blood and the Risk of Adverse Pregnancy Outcomes: a Population-Based Study. Biological trace element research 160 (3), 437-444. DOI: 10.1007/s12011-014-0057-x [not included in the current dossier]

## 7.15. Abbreviations

ASAT	aspartate aminotransferase		
ATC			
	antimony trichloride (EC: 233-047-2)		
ATEG	2,5,7,10,11,14-hexaoxa-1,6-distibabicyclo[4.4.4]tetradecane (EC: 249-820-2)		
ΑΤΟ	diantimony trioxide (EC: 215-175-0)		
ATS	antimony trisulphide (EC: 215-713-4)		
Bq	Becquerel		
bw	body weight		
CA	Competent Authority		
СНО	Chinese hamster ovary		
CLP	Classification, labelling and packaging (Regulation (EC) No		
	1272/2008)		
CMR	Carcinogenic, Mutagenic, Reprotoxic		
CoRAP	Community rolling action plan		
CSR	Chemical Safety Report		
d	day		
DNEL	Derived no effect level		
DEv	Dossier evaluation		
ECG	electrocardiography		
eMSCA	evaluating Member State Competent Authority		
ET	endotracheal		
fT4	free thyroxine		
GOT	glutamic-oxaloacetic transaminase		
i2a	International Antimony Association		
i.m.	intramuscular		
i.p.	intraperitoneal		
i.v.	intravenous		
LOAEC	lowest observed adverse effect concentration		
LOAEL	lowest observed adverse effect level		
МАК	Maximale Arbeitsplatz-Konzentration		
MMAD	Mass Median Aerodynamic Diameter		

MPPD	Multiple-Path Particle Dosimetry
MSCA	Member State Competent Authority
NOAEC	no observed adverse effect concentration
NOAEL	no observed adverse effect level
NTD	neural tube defects
NTP	National Toxicology Program
OECD	Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development
OPCS	Office of Population, Censuses and Surveys
PU	pulmonary
RCR	Risk Characterization Ratio
ROS	reactive oxygen species
Sb	antimony
Sb metal	antimony metal (EC: 231-146-5)
S.C.	subcutaneous
SCE	sister chromatid exchange
SEv	Substance Evaluation
Т3	triiodothyronine
T4	thyroxine
Т90	theoretical value for the time to achieve 90% of the target concentration after the beginning of aerosol generation
ТВ	tracheobronchial
UDS	Unscheduled DNA synthesis

## **8.** Annex 1: Incidence of selected non-neoplastic findings in the 2 year inhalation toxicity studies of ATO in rats and mice (NTP 2017)

Concentration in air 0, 3, 10 or 30 mg/m<sup>3</sup>, 50 animals /sex/group

Target organ	Male Wistar Han Rats	Female Wistar Han Rats	Male B6C3F1/N Mice	Female B6C3F1/N Mice
Survival rates	30/50, 30/50, 28/50, 18/50	39/50, 38/50, 28/50, 20/50	38/50, 30/50, 27/50, 17/50	36/50, 31/50, 26/50, 15/50
Body weight	30 mg/m <sup>3</sup> group at least 10% less than the chamber control group after week 69 and decreased to 80% of that of the chamber controls by the end of the exposure.	3, 10, and 30 mg/m <sup>3</sup> groups at least 10% less than the chamber control group after weeks 99, 81, and 65, respectively; the 10 and 30 mg/m <sup>3</sup> groups were 20% and 28% less, respectively, than the chamber control group by the end of the exposure.	30 mg/m <sup>3</sup> group at least 10% less than the chamber control group after week 73 and 25% less than the chamber control group by the end of the exposure.	30 mg/m <sup>3</sup> group at least 10% less than the chamber control group after week 85 and 21% less than the chamber control group by the end of the exposure
Lung	foreign body (1/50, 50/50, 50/50, 50/50); inflammation, chronic active (18/50, 50/50, 50/50, 50/50); alveolus, inflammation, suppurative (0/50, 12/50, 24/50, 28/50); perivascular, infiltration cellular, lymphocyte (3/50, 25/50, 19/50, 9/50); proteinosis (0/50, 47/50, 50/50, 50/50); alveolar epithelium, hyperplasia (4/50, 50/50, 48/50, 49/50); bronchiole, epithelium, hyperplasia (3/50, 34/50, 36/50, 33/50); fibrosis (2/50, 50/50, 49/50, 49/50)	foreign body (0/50, 50/50, 50/50, 50/50); inflammation, chronic active (21/50, 50/50, 50/50, 50/50, 50/50, 50/50); alveolus, inflammation, suppurative (0/50, 5/50, 6/50, 5/50); perivascular, infiltration cellular, lymphocyte (0/50, 18/50, 11/50, 8/50); proteinosis (0/50, 50/50, 50/50, 50/50, 30/50, 50/50, 50/50, 50/50, 30/50, 50/50, 25/50, 50/50, 25/50, 27/50); alveolar epithelium, hyperplasia (6/50, 26/50, 25/50, 27/50); alveolar epithelium, metaplasia, squamous (0/50, 5/50, 3/50, 1/50); fibrosis (1/50, 50/50, 50/50, 49/50)	infiltration cellular, lymphocyte (13/50, 47/50, 48/50, 45/50); foreign body (0/50, 50/50, 50/50, 50/50); inflammation, chronic active (0/50, 48/50, 50/50, 50/50); alveolus, fibrosis (0/50, 12/50, 30/50, 37/50); pluera, fibrosis (0/50, 36/50, 46/50, 50/50); pleura, inflammation (1/50, 40/50, 47/50, 48/50); alveolar epithelium, hyperplasia (6/50, 39/50, 45/50, 49/50); bronchiole, epithelium, hyperplasia (0/50, 32/50, 44/50, 44/50)	infiltration cellular, lymphocyte (7/50, 37/50, 37/50, 26/50); foreign body (0/50, 50/50, 50/50, 50/50); inflammation, chronic active (1/50, 50/50, 50/50, 50/50); alveolus, fibrosis (0/50, 13/50, 30/50, 38/50); pluera, fibrosis (1/50, 39/50, 50/50, 50/50); pleura, inflammation (4/50, 27/50, 42/50, 38/50); alveolar epithelium, hyperplasia (1/50, 36/50, 49/50, 48/50); bronchiole, epithelium, hyperplasia (1/50, 34/50, 48/50, 45/50)
Adrenal medulla	hyperplasia (1/49, 2/50, 4/49, 8/50)	hyperplasia (0/49, 0/49, 3/49, 5/50)	hyperplacia (10/40	hyperplacia (2/50
Bone marrow	hyperplasia (0/50, 3/50, 4/50, 8/50)	hyperplasia (8/50, 5/50, 11/50, 20/50)	hyperplasia (10/49, 19/50, 27/48, 33/50)	hyperplasia (3/50, 5/50, 15/50, 28/50)

Target organ	Male Wistar Han Rats	Female Wistar Han Rats	Male B6C3F1/N Mice	Female B6C3F1/N Mice
Spleen				hematopoietic cell proliferation (17/50, 19/50, 20/50, 35/50)
Thymus			depletion cellular (15/41, 14/38, 32/43, 32/39)	depletion cellular (9/47, 18/49, 23/49, 29/49)
Nose	foreign body (0/50, 0/49, 17/50, 40/50); respiratory epithelium, hyperplasia	foreign body (0/50, 5/50, 26/50, 45/50); respiratory epithelium, hyperplasia (4/50, 6/50, 7/50, 16/50); respiratory epithelium, metaplasia, squamous (0/50, 2/50, 3/50, 5/50)	foreign body (0/50, 48/49, 48/49, 49/50); respiratory epithelium, inflammation, chronic active (3/50, 9/49, 9/49, 6/50)	foreign body (1/50, 44/49, 45/50, 48/50); respiratory epithelium, metaplasia, squamous (0/50, 3/49, 2/50, 4/50)
Larynx	foreign body (0/50, 50/50, 50/50, 50/50)	foreign body (0/50, 50/50, 50/50, 50/50); inflammation, chronic active (0/50, 8/50, 0/50, 3/50)	foreign body (0/50, 15/50, 29/50, 44/50); respiratory epithelium, hyperplasia (1/50, 3/50, 15/50, 30/50); respiratory epithelium, metaplasia, squamous (0/50, 0/50, 8/50, 18/50); squamous epithelium, hyperplasia (2/50, 0/50, 4/50, 13/50)	foreign body (0/50, 25/50, 39/50, 48/50); respiratory epithelium, hyperplasia (2/50, 0/50, 14/50, 18/50); respiratory epithelium, metaplasia, squamous (1/50, 0/50, 5/50, 24/50); squamous epithelium, hyperplasia (4/50, 1/50, 1/50, 12/50)
Trachea	foreign body (0/50, 28/50, 43/50, 48/50)	foreign body (0/50, 39/50, 47/50, 49/50)	foreign body (0/49, 3/50, 1/50, 20/50); epithelium, hyperplasia (0/49, 0/50, 2/50, 5/50)	foreign body (0/50, 7/50, 14/50, 20/50)
Lymph node bronchial	foreign body (0/41, 35/40, 45/48, 42/47); hyperplasia, lymphoid (0/41, 21/40, 29/48, 26/47); pigmentation (1/41, 4/40, 5/48, 10/47)	foreign body (0/35, 35/36, 23/28, 36/41); hyperplasia, lymphoid (0/35, 21/36, 9/28, 11/41)	hyperplasia, lymphoid (2/30, 21/43, 26/47, 13/41); foreign body (0/30, 34/43, 47/47, 38/41); infiltration cellular, histiocyte (0/30, 2/43, 4/47, 6/41)	hyperplasia, lymphoid (2/41, 15/47, 17/48, 11/49); foreign body (0/41, 34/47, 46/48, 43/49); infiltration cellular, histiocyte (0/41, 2/47, 7/48, 7/49)
Lymph node mediastinal	foreign body (0/42, 41/45, 41/49, 43/49); hyperplasia, lymphoid (1/42, 24/45, 30/49, 26/49)	foreign body (0/46, 27/46, 32/46, 33/46); hyperplasia, lymphoid (0/46, 14/46, 10/46, 15/46)	hyperplasia, lymphoid (2/37, 8/45, 17/48, 34/49); foreign body (0/37, 32/45, 42/48, 48/49); infiltration cellular, histiocyte	hyperplasia, lymphoid (0/46, 3/48, 16/49, 18/50); foreign body (0/46, 28/48, 45/49, 44/50); infiltration cellular, histiocyte (0/46, 6/48, 11/49, 16/50)
Mediastinum	artery, inflammation, chronic active (0/0, 1/1, 2/2, 10/10)	artery, inflammation, chronic active (0/0, 0/0, 2/2, 9/9)		
Heart			epicardium, inflammation, chronic active (0/50,	epicardium, inflammation, chronic active (0/50,

Target organ	Male Wistar Han Rats	Female Wistar Han Rats	Male B6C3F1/N Mice	Female B6C3F1/N Mice
			2/50, 7/50, 16/50)	2/50, 7/50, 7/50)
Stomach, forestomach			inflammation, chronic active (2/50, 4/50, 4/49, 7/50)	
Pancreas	artery, inflammation, chronic active (1/50, 0/50, 2/50, 8/50)	artery, inflammation, chronic active (0/50, 0/50, 3/50, 8/50); artery, necrosis (0/50, 0/50, 0/50, 4/50)		
Mesentery	artery, inflammation, chronic active (0/50, 0/50, 0/50, 6/50)	artery, inflammation, chronic active (0/50, 0/50, 0/50, 6/50)		
Lung (artery)	artery, inflammation, chronic active (0/50, 0/50, 1/50, 1/50)	artery, inflammation, chronic active (0/50, 0/50, 1/50, 2/50)		
Kidney	renal tubule, accumulation, hyaline droplet (0/50, 1/50, 3/50, 14/50); artery, inflammation, chronic active	renal tubule, accumulation, hyaline droplet (0/50, 0/50, 5/50, 11/50); nephropathy (16/50, 15/50, 20/50, 24/50); artery, inflammation, chronic active (0/50, 0/50, 0/50, 2/50)		
Artery (all tissues combines)	inflammation, chronic active (1/50, 1/50, 5/50, 16/50)	inflammation, chronic active (0/50, 0/50, 5/50, 15/50)		
Eye	ciliary body, inflammation, acute (0/49, 0/49, 1/50, 6/49)	retina, atrophy (6/49, 21/50, 18/49, 19/49); ciliary body, inflammation, acute (0/49, 0/50, 1/49, 6/49)		
Prostate gland	Epithelium, hyperplasia 9/50, 18/50, 21/50, 13/50	NA		NA